

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2020

Strategies to Reduce Employee Turnover in Childcare Centers

Tara Jones
Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations

Walden University

College of Management and Technology

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Tara Jones

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee
Dr. Kathleen Andrews, Committee Chairperson, Doctor of Business Administration
Faculty

Dr. Teresa Jepma, Committee Member, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Rocky Dwyer, University Reviewer, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

Walden University 2020

Abstract

Strategies to Reduce Employee Turnover in Childcare Centers

by

Tara Jones

MBA, TUI University, 2011

BSOE, Wayland Baptist University, 2007

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

March 2020

Abstract

Organizations across the United States pay billions of dollars annually to combat employee turnover. Organizations may pay over 250% of a departing employee's salary. As high employee turnover negatively impacts the profitability of organizations, it is vital childcare center directors have strategies to reduce employee turnover. This qualitative multiple case study explored strategies childcare center directors have used to reduce employee turner. The research participants consisted of 4 purposefully selected childcare center directors of nonfranchised childcare centers in Houston, Texas, with more than 5 years of experience who implemented strategies to reduce employee turnover. The conceptual framework for this study was the job embeddedness theory. Data were collected from semistructured interviews and organizational documents. Data were analyzed using thematic analysis that resulted in the emergence of 4 main themes: the importance of compensation, effective managerial communication, a strong organizational culture, and a rewards and recognition program. Implications for positive social change include the potential for improved employment stability and community development. Sustained employment provides employees with a consistent source of income that gives families disposable funds to spend throughout a community. Additionally, when a greater number of people are employed within a community a larger tax base may be created for local municipalities to invest back into initiatives to improve communities.

Strategies to Reduce Employee Turnover in Childcare Centers

by

Tara Jones

MBA, TUI University, 2011
BSOE, Wayland Baptist University, 2007

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

March 2020

Dedication

I dedicate this doctoral study to my three children, Janiah, Jason Jr., and Jarai. Your unconditional love and support carried me through the doctoral process. I thank you from the very bottom of my heart for the unspoken, but not unnoticed, sacrifices you made to allow me to devote the time and attention necessary to reach this point. You all are the reasons I started this journey; more importantly, you all are the reasons I was able to complete it. Thank you for having faith in me, and never doubting that one day I would become "Dr. Mom". I would also like to dedicate this study to my parents, Herbert and Cordella Steptoe, as well as my sister, Terell Woodard, and my niece, Gemmia Williams. You all have stood in my stead on multiple fronts and on numerous occasions without complaint or hesitation. I appreciate you all more than you will ever know. Last but definitely not least, I dedicate this study to my cousins, Latoya Singleton and Zoe' Green, who have shown me the true meaning of tenacity and steadfastness. This accomplishment is all of ours together; I love you all always!

Acknowledgments

First, I owe all honor to God for granting me the favor, mercy, strengthen, and courage to achieve the goals I have reached thus far. I would like to give a special acknowledgment to my amazing chair, Dr. Kathleen (Kate) Andrews. Dr. Kate, I am externally grateful for your patience, understanding, expertise, and advice. I would also like to thank my committee members, Dr. Teresa Jepma and Dr. Rocky Dwyer, for their support and feedback. Many thanks to my supportive and loving family, friends, and colleagues. Finally, I thank the participants for their time and the effort they put forth to help me complete this study.

Table of Contents

Se	ction 1: Foundation of the Study	1
	Background of the Problem	1
	Problem Statement	2
	Purpose Statement	2
	Nature of the Study	3
	Research Question	4
	Interview Questions	4
	Conceptual Framework	4
	Operational Definitions	5
	Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations	5
	Assumptions	5
	Limitations	6
	Delimitations	6
	Significance of the Study	7
	Contribution to Business Practice	7
	Implications for Social Change	7
	A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature	8
	Job Embeddedness Theory	9
	Employee Turnover	. 20
	Leadership	. 29
	Employee Development	. 32

Employee Engagement	34
Organizational Culture	35
Transition and Summary	36
Section 2: The Project	38
Purpose Statement	38
Role of the Researcher	39
Participants	40
Research Method and Design	42
Research Method	42
Research Design	43
Population and Sampling	44
Ethical Research	45
Data Collection Instruments	47
Data Collection Technique	49
Data Organization Techniques	51
Data Analysis	52
Reliability and Validity	54
Transition and Summary	57
Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change	58
Introduction	58
Presentation of the Findings	58

Theme 1: Compensation	9
Theme 2: Managerial Communication	1
Theme 3: Organizational Culture	4
Theme 4: Rewards and Recognition 6	7
Applications to Professional Practice69	9
Implications for Social Change70	0
Recommendations for Action70	0
Recommendations for Further Research	3
Reflections	4
Conclusion	4
References	6
Appendix A: Participant Invitation Email	5
Appendix B: Interview Protocol	7
Appendix C: Interview Questions	0
Appendix D: Member-Checking (E-mail Option)11	1

Section 1: Foundation of the Study

Employee turnover is costly to organizations in terms of direct expenditures required to replace leaving personnel, as well as hidden costs associated with degraded morale and a loss of corporate knowledge (Rubenstein, Eberly, Lee, & Mitchell, 2017). The success of an organization depends on its performance levels and profitability potential; therefore, it is beneficial for organizational leaders to understand antecedents to employee turnover as they ultimately impact an organization's sustainability (Abell, Arsiwalla, Putnam, & Miller, 2014). Understanding the determinants of employee turnover may result in direct and indirect financial saving to organizations (Dale-Olsen, 2014). In this study, I explored perceptions and experiences of childcare center directors regarding strategies to reduce employee turnover in nonfranchised childcare centers in Houston, Texas.

Background of the Problem

Turnover among child welfare workers exceeds 90% per year in some U.S. cities (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 2016). Employee turnover disrupts an organization's performance and degrades productivity (Park & Shaw, 2013). It is imperative for childcare center directors to understand the implications of employee turnover, and its direct effect on organizational functionality and profitability. The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to determine strategies childcare center directors utilize to reduce employee turnover.

Problem Statement

Childcare center administrators throughout the United States replace nearly 40% of their workforce annually (Kim & Yang, 2016). To replace each employee who leaves, organizations may pay in excess of 250% of a departing employee's salary (Hammon, 2017). The general business problem was that high employee turnover negatively impacts profitability of organizations. The specific business problem was some childcare center directors lack strategies to reduce employee turnover.

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore strategies some childcare center directors used to reduce employee turnover. The target population consisted of four directors of nonfranchised childcare centers in Houston, Texas with more than 5 years of experience who have implemented strategies to reduce employee turnover. These childcare center directors were the appropriate population to participate in the study due to their lived experiences and success with strategies to reduce employee turnover. The implications of this study for positive social change include the potential to contribute to the prosperity of employees and communities. Personnel with sustained employment may be able to live more financially secure lives. Additionally, local government officials may use tax revenues generated from employed personnel to enhance community facilities and services.

Nature of the Study

The qualitative methodology was the research method for this study. Researchers may use the qualitative research approach to facilitate an understanding of an occurrence or set of occurrences based on individuals' experiences (Goldberg & Allen, 2015). The qualitative research method is the most suitable methodology for exploring turnover from participants' experiences.

Researchers use the quantitative methodology to test hypotheses and determine possible relationships or differences among variables based on numerical data (Breen, Holm, & Karlson, 2014). The quantitative method was not fitting for this study as I did not collect numerical data to test hypotheses and I did not seek to examine relationships or differences among variables. Researchers who use the mixed method utilize elements of both qualitative and quantitative research methods (Mayoh & Onwuegbuzie, 2015). By extension, the mixed method approach was not appropriate due to the quantitative component.

I chose the qualitative multiple case study design for this study. Researchers use the qualitative case study design to explore, describe, and explain occurrences based on an internal perspective of those with first-hand knowledge (Pacho, 2015). The case study design was most appropriate for my study, as I explored the research topic using firsthand experiences and knowledge of leaders with successful strategies to reduce employee turnover. Researchers use the phenomenology design to detail the origin of a phenomena based on the participants' lived experiences (Gill, 2014). The phenomenological research

approach was not applicable to this study, as I do not seek to explore the meanings of participants' lived experiences related to a particular phenomenon. The ethnographic design is appropriate when a researcher seeks to provide a cultural context of a phenomena (Elmusharaf, Byrne, Manandhar, Hemmings, & O'Donovan, 2016). The ethnographic design was not applicable to this study because I did not explore cultural aspects of the research topic.

Research Question

What strategies do childcare center directors use to reduce employee turnover?

Interview Questions

- 1. What strategies have you used to reduce employee turnover?
- 2. What strategies have you found worked best to reduce employee turnover?
- 3. What challenges have you encountered when implementing strategies to reduce employee turnover?
- 4. How have you addressed the key challenges to implementing the strategies for reducing employee turnover?
- 5. How do you measure the effectiveness of the strategies used to reduce employee turnover?
- 6. What other information would you like to add regarding this topic?

Conceptual Framework

The job embeddedness theory was the framework for this research study.

Mitchell, Holtom, Lee, Sablynski, and Erez (2001) introduced the theory of job

embeddedness to describe the combination of personal and organizational factors that promote employees feeling bound to their jobs. The three domains of job embeddedness are links, fit, and sacrifice (Mitchell et al., 2001). Links are connections between personnel and activities in the organization (Mitchell et al., 2001). Fit is an individual's perceived compatibility with a job, organization, and community (Mitchell et al., 2001). Sacrifices are an individual's perceived psychosocial or material costs of breaking links (Mitchell et al., 2001). As applied in this study, I expected the job embeddedness theory would enable me to understand the strategies childcare directors use to reduce employee turnover.

Operational Definitions

Job embeddedness. The degree employees feel connected to their job that influences them to remain in a position (Marasi, Cox, & Bennett, 2016).

Provider. An individual who provides childcare services (Texas Department of Family and Protective Services, 2016).

Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations

Assumptions

Assumptions are introspective beliefs a researcher maintains that influence research (Wolgemuth, Hicks, & Agosto, 2017). Researchers provide assumptions to inform readers of perceptions that influenced data collection and interpretation (O'Brien, Harris, Beckman, Reed, & Cook, 2014). This study included four assumptions. Given the nature of the study, I assumed at least four suitable participants would be available to

participate in interviews. In addition, I assumed study participants would voluntarily provide truthful responses. I assumed that data collection instruments would be sufficient to allow me to capture childcare center directors' perceptions regarding the impact of strategies on retention. Finally, I assumed the information I obtain through interviews would be useful to examine themes concerning retention strategies childcare center directors utilized.

Limitations

Study limitations are attributes, beyond a researcher's control, that the researcher identifies as potential weaknesses of a study (Aguinis & Edwards, 2014). The basis of this study included two limitations. The principal limitation of the study was the degree of respondent honesty and experiences when answering interview questions is unknown. Additionally, restricting the sample population to a single geographic location limited the generalizability of the study.

Delimitations

Researchers use delimitations to specify the scope of the research (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). The following delimitations defined the boundaries of this study. The first delimitation was that I limited the study to childcare centers located in Houston, Texas. The second delimitation was that the study only included participants who satisfied the following eligibility criteria: (a) a director position at a childcare center for at least 5 years, (b) an employment situation at a childcare center that is nonfranchised and

not in-home, (c) a supervisory role for a minimum of three employees, and (d) a previous use of strategies that reduced employee turnover.

Significance of the Study

Contribution to Business Practice

High occurrences of employee turnover impede organizations from reaching optimum productivity levels (Hassan et al., 2014). Childcare center directors who harness strategies to reduce employee turnover may use the information to prevent direct and indirect costs of employee turnover. The results of this study may contribute to business practices by providing childcare center directors practices they may utilize to reduce employee turnover and avoid excess organizational expenses related to recruiting, onboarding, and training new personnel. Consequently, childcare center directors may use findings from this study to decrease employee turnover in childcare centers and positively impact organizations' profitability and productivity levels.

Implications for Social Change

The strength and vitality of a community depend on the existence of organizations within the community that provide employment and income opportunities (Shetty & Reid, 2013). Implications for positive social change include the potential for improved employment stability and community development. Sustained employment provides employees a consistent source of income that gives families disposable funds to spend throughout a community. Additionally, the greater number of personnel employed within

a community may create a larger tax base for local municipalities to invest in initiatives to improve communities.

A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature

Researchers conduct literature reviews to evaluate information relevant to the research questions to draw conclusions from the body of studies and uncover gaps in existent research (Ramdhani, Ramdhani, & Amin, 2014). The purpose of this literature review was to identify pertinent literature pertaining to strategies to reduce employee turnover in childcare centers. I analyzed and synthesized a broad range of theoretical and empirical literature relevant to assist in my exploration of the central research question regarding the strategies childcare center directors use to reduce employee turnover.

The focus of this qualitative case study was to explore strategies of childcare center directors who have reduced employee turnover. The conceptual framework for this study was Mitchell et al. (2001) job embeddedness theory. I chose this theory as the framework for this research study to determine strategies childcare center directors may use to reduce employee turnover. Reducing employee turnover is a significant factor that affects an organization's ability to gain and maintain a competitive advantage (Deery & Jago, 2015). A discussion of the search strategies I utilized to investigate this topic using the previously identified conceptual framework follows.

I conducted a review of the literature on employee turnover and retention strategies, which included peer-reviewed articles and journals, dissertations, websites, and books. My review included sources from the following databases: ABI/INFORM

Complete, Academic Search Complete, Business Source Complete, Emerald

Management Journals, ProQuest Central, PsycINFO, SAGE Premier, Google Scholar,
and ScienceDirect. An aggregation of key terms and phrases included: *employee*turnover, employee retention, job embeddedness, employee engagement, personorganization fit, organizational commitment, job satisfaction, and employee development.

These categories enabled an expansive understanding of the factors that contribute to
employees remaining in or leaving jobs.

I organized this literature review to first discuss my literature search strategy.

Next, I provide details on the job embeddedness conceptual framework followed by a critical analysis and synthesis of the literature related to the conceptual framework and employee turnover. I conclude the literature review with information regarding strategies leaders may use to reduce employee turnover. In accordance with Walden DBA requirements, in this review of the professional and academic literature, I included peer-reviewed articles published from 1925 to 2017.

Job Embeddedness Theory

Job embeddedness theory is an organizational attachment theory used to examine the accumulation of forces that influence an employee's decision about whether to remain in his or her job (Mitchell et al., 2001). The job embeddedness theory is composed of three factors from both an internal and external perspective to explain people's connections to organizations that influence employee retention (Rajappan, Nair, Priyadarshini, & Sivakumar, 2017). Mitchell et al (2001) outlined the dimensions as: (a)

the extent to which a job, organization, or community are compatible with an individual's personal values and objectives (fit); (b) the extent to which an individual has connections with other individuals and job-related activities (links); and (c) the ease with which links break (sacrifices).

The concept of job embeddedness stems from Lewin's (1951) psychological field theory. The field theory is a psychological construct in which the psychologist Kurt Lewin examined patterns of interactions between an individual and the field or environment in which the individual exists (Lewin, 1951). In the field theory, Lewin proposed that figures in the foreground of pictures and surroundings images are so closely connected that it is difficult to separate the foreground from the background (Kiazad, Holtom, Hom, & Newman, 2015). Lewin argued that both personal and situational characteristics influence ones' behavior. Mitchell et al. (2001) applied principles of the field theory in an organizational context to examine interactions between an employee and an organization as they relate to employees' decisions to remain in or leave a job.

Applying the principles of Lewin's field theory, Mitchell et al. (2001) investigated the relationship between employees' turnover intentions and actual instances of turnover by examining job satisfaction and organizational commitment, as well as job search activities, using a sample of 177 grocery store employees and 208 hospital employees. Mitchell et al. found that a relationship exists between an individual's job embeddedness level, their intent to leave a job, and their propensity to leave a job.

Mitchell et al. further asserted that once an individual becomes highly embedded in a job or community, they become less likely to wish to leave that job or community and are therefore less likely to leave. Based on their findings, Mitchell et al. developed the job embeddedness theory to explain how various factors influence employees' decisions about whether to stay in their jobs.

The key underlying principle of the job embeddedness theory is that employees remain in an organization because they become intertwined in a social web at a job or in a community and are therefore less likely to leave a job or community (Mitchell et al., 2001). The crux of the theory is the stronger the embedding forces between an individual and an organization or community, the less likely those employees will be to leave their jobs (Mitchell et al., 2001). Mitchell et al.'s job embeddedness theory is intended to help individuals and organizations understand the reasons employees remain in a job, vice reasons employees leave. Mitchell et al. argued that voluntary employee turnover occurs through a cognitive decision-making process that culminates in an individual developing a desire or intention to leave. Mitchell et al. asserted that highly embedded employees are less likely to leave compared to less embedded individuals. Mitchell et al. coined job embeddedness as a broad set of influences that affect employees' intention to remain in their jobs. Such influences may exist or occur within the organization in which individuals work or in the community in which they reside (Reitz, 2014). Regardless of location, these factors have psychological, social, and/or financial significance to employees, and thus influence their employment decisions (Ryan & Harden, 2014). An

additional factor that Mitchell et al. considered when they developed the job embeddedness theory is the concept that factors relating to where people work (on-the-job) as well as factors associated with where they reside off-the-job (community) impact employees' decisions to remain in a job. The job embeddedness theory is comprised of six dimensions, on-the-job links, off-the-job (community) links, on-the-job fit, off-the-job (community) fit, on-the-job sacrifices and off-the-job (community) sacrifices (Mitchell et al., 2001).

Links. Links are the ties employees have with other people or activities (Chen & Chang, 2013). Organizational links are relationships that individuals have with the organization or other individuals associated with the organization (Mitchell et al., 2001). Moreover, links may be social, psychological, or financial, and may include on-the-job and off-the-job (community) elements (Anand, 2017). The relationships employees have within an organization influences the individual's intention to leave a job (Anand, 2017). Highly embedded individuals have a high degree of interconnectedness, which they would forfeit if they left an organization or community (Mitchell et al., 2001). Employees establish embedded links when they create bonds with others (Mitchell et al., 2001). Asfar (2016) classified links as informal or formal connections between an individual and an institution, activities, or other individuals. On-the-job links may be formal or informal. Formal organizational links include membership of work groups, professional organizations, and professional contacts (Ferreira, 2017). Informal links include relationships with coworkers, friends, and acquaintances (Takawira, Coetzee, & include the content of the professional contacts (Takawira, Coetzee, & include the professional contacts (Takawira, Coet

Schreuder, 2014). Off-the-job (community) links are extra-organizational ties, activities, and relationships that an individual has within a geographical area such as ties to family, friends, and community associations (Ryan & Harden, 2014). The number and strength of employees' connections translate into different levels of embeddedness. The more abundant the links between an individual and an organization or community, the more embedded the individual is there, and therefore the more likely to stay (Mitchell et al., 2001). Ryan and Harden (2014) found that community links, such as church-related activities and hobbies, influence employees' commitment to their jobs. Achieving findings complementary with Ryan and Harden, Cheng and Chang (2016) reported community links can be as influential as organizational links in relation to employee retention. Although community links do not involve the workplace, members may remain in their jobs to remain in a particular community (Chambel, Lorente, Carvalho, & Martinez, 2016).

Fit. The second dimension of job embeddedness is fit. Fit is an individual's perceived level of comfort and compatibility with an organization or environment (Cheng & Chang, 2016). Nafei (2014) described fit as the degree of alignment between individual's personal goals, views, and values and those of an organization and community. Rajappan et al. (2017) reported that the better the fit between an employee and an organization, the greater the likelihood that an employee will feel professionally and personally tied to the organization. Off-the-job (community) fit is the degree that an individual feels he or she fits in within the community in which he or she resides (Kiazad

et al., 2015). The greater the congruence between what an individual's desires of his or her community and what that community offers, the more likely it is that the individual will become embedded in the community and stay in a job to continue to reap the benefits of residing in that community (Lee, Burch, & Mitchell, 2014). Off-the-job (community) elements of the fit dimension of job embeddedness include factors such as geographical location, weather, available amenities, entertainment opportunities, community culture, and the presence of individuals who share similar interests and personal views.

Components of community links may be of intrinsic value to personnel; for instance, an individual may view the sense of safety they get from living in a neighborhood or community as a community link, one which may, in turn, influence their decision to stay in a job (Afsar & Badir, 2016).

The fit component of job embeddedness aligns with Chatman's (1989) personorganization (P-O) fit construct. The central tenet of P-O fit is the perceived compatibility between employees' individual characteristics and the conditions of their work environment (Wojrtczuk-Turek & Turek, 2016). Employees who experience a sense of belonging within an organization are less likely to want to leave the organization; hence, the better the P-O fit, the more likely it is that an employee will feel tied to an organization (Saraç, Efil, & Eryilmaz, 2014). Employees with a poor P-O fit are likely to leave the organization (Rajappan et al., 2017). Conversely, employees with a good P-O for are less likely to leave an organization (Wei, 2015).

Sacrifice. Sacrifice is the perceived cost of psychological or material benefits that may prevent an employee from leaving an organization (Mitchell et al., 2001). Lee et al. (2014) described sacrifice as the cost associated with breaking links. The principle behind the sacrifice dimension of job embeddedness is that an employee will remain in an organization to avoid sacrificing valued job-related incentives as well as community connections and social relationships (Nafei, 2014). The more an individual must give up if they leave an organization or community, the lower the likelihood that he or she will do so (Tews, Michel, Xu, & Drost, 2015). On-the-job-related sacrifices may include the loss of highly sought-after office space, seniority benefits, retirement benefits, health insurance, job security, and trusted leaders or coworkers (Kiazad et al., 2015). Off-thejob (community) sacrifice is the perceived loss one would suffer by relocating from one's residential community (Mitchell et al., 2001). Keeping in line with the tenets of the job embeddedness theory, community sacrifice plays an important role in an employee's decision to leave or remain in a job (Lee et al., 2014). Examples of off-the-job (community) related sacrifices include proximity to family members and friends, homeownership, and availability of preferred pastimes (Mitchell et al., 2001). If employees value aspects of the community in which they reside, they will be reluctant to give up their job (Kiazad et al., 2015). Returning to the scenario where an individual perceives the security of their neighborhood as a link, having to relocate to accommodate new employment arrangements may constitute a sacrifice for that person, and therefore influence the person's decision to stay in a job.

Since Mitchell et al. (2001) developed the job embeddedness theory, multiple researchers have provided empirical support for the applicability of the construct in various contexts. Lee et al. (2004) extended Mitchell et al.'s (2001) findings regarding the relationship between job embeddedness and voluntary turnover. Using a sample of 621 employees from a financial institution, Lee et al. reported that both on-the-job and off-the-job (community) embeddedness factors decreased turnover and absenteeism. Lee et al. further submitted evidence that showed that employees' job embeddedness levels also impacted their performance and organizational citizenship levels. Crossley, Bennett, Jex, and Burnfield (2007) extended this line of research with an examination of the integration of job embeddedness with traditional voluntary turnover models. Using a sample of 306 participants who represented a cross-section of employees from a midsized organization in the midwestern United States that provides assisted living for older adults and disabled youths, Crossley et al. identified a direct relationship between embeddedness and turnover. Crossley et al. supported Mitchell et al. and Lee et al. Crossley et al. contended that organizational leaders may apply the job embeddedness theory to predict employees' intent to leave and voluntary turnover behaviors. Leaders may thus seek to improve their understanding of job embeddedness to reduce employee turnover and the negative organizations associated with high turnover (Tian, Cordery, & Gamble, 2016).

Choi and Kim (2015) examined the effect of job embeddedness turnover intention of infection control nurses. Choi and Kim (2015) found a correlation between turnover

intention and job embeddedness and found that the extent managers provide resources that embed individuals in the community as well as in the organization, creating a strong fit, and influences employees' decisions to stay in their jobs. Summarizing Choi and Kim's findings, managers may strengthen the fit between an individual and the organization by providing realistic information to candidates during the hiring process and beyond.

Subsequently, Robinson, Kralj, Solnet, Goh, and Callan (2014) found that the job embeddedness aspects are positively related to organizational commitment. Leaders may use organization-sponsored programs designed to allow employees to network and build relationships as embedding activities to strengthen employees' attachment and commitment to an organization and those associated with it (Anand, 2017). Kiazad et al. (2015) reported that organizations can increase employees' embeddedness levels by implementing skill-enhancing practices, such as training and high-potential employee development programs, as well as providing paid professional organization membership to allow personnel to expand their organizational networks. Additionally, organizational leaders may also increase employees' job embeddedness levels through building community building activities and activities designed to help employees developing a sense of belonging (Robinson et al., 2014). Managers may strengthen job embeddedness by offering unique benefits that are hard for other companies to replicate, and thus that the employee will not want to sacrifice, such as pay and reward incentives (Halvorsen, Treuren, & Kulik, 2015). Implementing policies and programs designed to increase

employees' embeddedness levels are strategies organizational leaders may use to reduce employee turnover (Lee et al., 2017).

Empirical evidence exists that supports the predictive ability of the job embeddedness theory regarding employee turnover in various organizational contexts, evidence also exists that support the applicability construct across multiple countries and cultures (Hom et al., 2009; Lang, Kern, & Zapf, 2016; Ramesh & Gelfand, 2010). Hom et al. (2009) demonstrated the utility of job embeddedness theory to predict employee turnover in organizations outside of the U.S. Using a sample of 500 Chinese middle managers across 41 firms to investigate the relationship between organizational relationships and job embeddedness, Hom et al. confirmed a negative relationship between job embeddedness and employees' intentions to leave their jobs in China. Hom et al. provided further empirical support for the predictive ability of job embeddedness in relation to employee turnover. In line with Hom et al., Ramesh and Gelfand (2010) investigated the cross-cultural generalizability of job embeddedness by studying three call centers in the U.S. (n = 323), and three call centers in India (n = 474) to examine the applicability of job embeddedness in India compared to in the United States. Ramesh and Gelfand aimed to test the effectiveness of job embeddedness outside the United States. Ramesh and Gelfand demonstrated the cross-national utility of the job embeddedness theory as a viable model to understand why personnel remain in a job. Consistent with Hom et al. and Ramesh and Gelfand's research on job embeddedness, Lang et al. (2016) examined the mediating effects of job embeddedness on voluntary

turnover using a sample of 507 employed personnel in Germany. Lang et al. demonstrated that highly-embedded employees are less likely to actively search for new employment opportunities. Taken together, Hom et al., Ramesh and Gelfand, and Lang et al. all provided empirical support for the applicability of the job embeddedness in various organizational and cultural contexts.

Criticisms of the job embeddedness theory. In addition to support for the job embeddedness theory, there is empirical opposition to the construct. Allen, Peltokorpi, and Rubenstein (2016) argued that employee embeddedness is not always associated with positive results. Allen et al. contended that employee embeddedness may leave an employee disoriented or feeling as though he or she is stuck in an organization against his or her will. In such cases, employees demonstrated lower levels of engagement, as well as exhaustion, and were more susceptible to burnout (Allen et al., 2016). In a study similar to Allen et al.'s research, Marasi et al. (2016) provided evidence that job embeddedness is not always beneficial. Using a sample of 353 nurses, Marasi et al. investigated the relationship between job embeddedness, organizational trust, and workplace deviance. Marasi et al. demonstrated that employees who lacked organizational trust and were highly embedded in their jobs demonstrated higher levels of workplace deviance than those with high levels of organizational trust and either high or low levels of job embeddedness. Marasi et al. also found that some highly embedded personnel felt hopelessly confined to their jobs. In this context, these employees may feel trapped in their jobs will not leave even when they have a strong desire to do so.

Employees who perceive that they have little control or choice with regard to terminating their employment are likely to engage in workplace deviance (Chambel et al., 2016). In these cases, highly embedded employees threaten organizational efficiency with complacency and destructive acts; therefore, highly embedded employees that are deviant or disgruntled are liabilities and inhibit organizational productivity levels (Chambel et al., 2016). Despite the limitations of Mitchell et al.'s theory, I am using the theory because it is the best fit for the current study's purpose, which is to identify strategies childcare center directors us to reduce employee turnover. The use of the theory can assist in uncovering the strategies childcare center directors use to retain employees in a childcare centers in Houston, Texas.

Employee Turnover

Turnover is the process of employees separating from an organization or employment (Heritage, Gilbert, & Roberts, 2016). Business leaders consider employee turnover a significant expense to an organization in terms of financial and productivity measures (Bankert, Coberley, Pope, & Wells, 2015). Employee turnover has both evident and hidden consequences to an organization (George, 2015). Visible turnover consequences include recruitment costs, relocation costs, and costs to train new employees (Alkahtani, 2015). Hidden cost of turnover involves the loss of productivity, loss of organizational knowledge, impaired relationships with clients, degraded morale, decreased job satisfaction, and diminished organizational commitment in remaining

employees (Alkahtani, 2015). Employee turnover is a critical link between macro strategies and micro behavior within an organization (Deery & Jago, 2015).

Employee turnover is one of the most researched subjects in the human resource management (HRM) field (Deery & Jago, 2015). From as early as 1920s, scholars have conducted empirical studies to investigate the causes and consequences of employee turnover (Adkins, 2016). Bills (1925) published the first empirical study on turnover. Bills demonstrated that clerical workers who were children of unskilled workers were more likely to quit their jobs than children of skilled workers.

Turnover is categorized as voluntary or involuntary (Hesford, Malina, & Pizzini, 2016). Voluntary turnover occurs when an employee willingly chooses to discontinue their employment with an organization (Hesford et al., 2016). Employees' decisions to voluntarily terminate their employment with an organization varies based on each individual employee's circumstances. Commonly cited reasons for voluntary turnover include the availability of alternative employment opportunities, job satisfaction levels, interpersonal conflict, an unproductive work environment, work-life balance challenges, or other personal reasons (Parker & Gerbasi, 2016).

Involuntary turnover occurs when an employer terminates a worker's employment with an organization (Hesford et al., 2016). Employers may involuntary terminate employees for reasons such as poor performance or violating workplace polices (Hesford et al., 2016). Employees may also be involuntarily terminated for reasons beyond their

control such as corporate downsizing or organizational restructuring (Parker & Gerbasi, 2016).

Wang, Zhoa, and Thornhill (2015) argued that while both forms of turnover result in an organization having to acquire new employees, voluntary turnover is more detrimental to an organization than involuntary turnover. Hesford et al. (2016) opposed Wang et al. and reported that neither form of turnover is completely good or bad in all instances. Although many HRMs consider voluntary turnover as destructive and recommend organizations attempt to minimize voluntary turnover, there are occasions when organizations benefit from when employees voluntarily leave (Wang et al., 2015).

Turnover models. March and Simon (1952) presented the first official turnover model, the theory of organizational equilibrium. In the theory of organizational equilibrium, March and Simon theorized that employees who are happy with their jobs are more likely to remain productive members of an organization. March and Simon underscored the need for organizations to balance employee expectations with organizational inducements to reduce employee turnover. Since March and Simon's (1952) development of the theory, researchers have consistently reported job satisfaction and organizational commitment as reoccurring themes in turnover research (Deery & Jago, 2015). Mobley, Horner, and Hollingsworth (1978) proposed that employee turnover occurs through a withdrawal process in which employees become less satisfied and less committed to an organization and therefore gradually or abruptly withdraw psychologically and behaviorally from an organization before they actually leave.

Job satisfaction is the degree to which an employee likes or dislikes his or her occupational experiences (Fu & Deshpande, 2014). Employees' job satisfaction levels influence their turnover intentions (Kim, Wehbi, Delli Fraine, & Brannon 2014). This is in agreement with the central tenet of the job satisfaction theory where individuals who are satisfied with their jobs are less likely to leave their jobs than their less satisfied or dissatisfied counterparts (Fu & Deshpande, 2014). Mobley et al. (1978) also posited dissatisfied employees are more likely to quit their jobs than satisfied employees.

Personnel also make employment decisions based on organizational commitment levels (Halvorsen et al., 2015). Organizational commitment is the psychological attachment between an employee and organization (Garg & Dhar, 2014). Employees' organizational commitment levels represent their feelings regarding their organization as a whole (Alkahtani, 2015). Alkahtani (2015) asserted that highly committed employees perform at higher levels than their less committed counterparts, which results in higher productivity levels and fewer instances of employee turnover. The crux of the organizational commitment model is that highly committed employees will affirm their commitment to an organization by remaining in the organization (Garg & Dhar, 2014). Employees who have a low commitment level, are more likely to leave an organization than those who have higher commitment levels (Halvorsen et al., 2015).

The job embeddedness theory is an alternative lens through which to view employee turnover. Job satisfaction and organizational commitment are turnover models researchers developed from the perspective of understanding why employees leave an

organization (Mitchell et al., 2001). The job embeddedness theory differs from these turnover models because the foundation of the job embeddedness theory is on examining reasons people remain in jobs (Crossley et al., 2007). Moreover, Crossley et al. (2007) reported job satisfaction and organizational commitment levels exclusively entail on job-related elements; whereas, the job embeddedness theory includes off-the-job factors in addition to job-related issues. Holtom, Mitchell, Lee, and Eberly (2008) recommended researchers study turnover through the perspective of interpersonal relationships in addition to an individual's personal thoughts and feelings.

Heeding Holtom et al.'s (2008) recommendation for researchers to examine employee turnover from a holistic perspective, I selected the job embeddedness theory as the conceptual framework for this study. I used the theory to form the basis of my understanding of employee turnover using both job-related and non-job-related factors. Mitchell et al. (2001) reported job embeddedness consistently explained variance in turnover beyond control variables such as job satisfaction and organizational commitment; therefore, the job embeddedness theory is the most suitable employee turnover model for me to examine employee turnover in childcare centers. I did not select the job satisfaction nor organizational commitment turnover models as the conceptual framework for this study as they lack the multidimensional aspect of employee turnover the embeddedness theory includes.

Demographic characteristics. There are demographic variables that are significant predictors of employee turnover (Schubert & Anderson, 2015). Antecedents

to employee turnover are strongly associated various socio-demographic characteristics such as age, gender, marital status, ethnicity, length of service, and educational levels (Agyeman & Ponniah, 2014). In the following sections, I examined what research indicates regarding the impact of employees' age and tenure as they relate to employee turnover.

Age. An employee's age is the most studied demographic attribute associated with employee turnover (Agyeman & Ponniah, 2014). Younger workers are more likely to quit their jobs than more senior employees (Schubert & Anderson, 2015). Lu and Gursoy (2016) examined the possible moderating effects of generational differences between Baby Boomers (born from 1946 to 1964), Generation X employees (born from 1965 to 1980), and Millennials (born from 1981 to 1999) with respect to burnout, job satisfaction, and turnover intention. Lu and Gursoy found a generational identity in Millennials and Baby Boomers had a significant moderating effect on the relationship between emotional exhaustion and turnover intention, as well as on the relationship between job satisfaction and turnover intention. There are significant differences between Millennials and older generations who are still present in the workforce, in terms of their characteristics, working styles and employment expectations (Lu & Gursoy, 2016; Özçelik, 2015; Tews et al., 2015). Baby Boomers are employees who are serviceoriented, good team players, good at socializing, and value good work ethics, job security, and stability. When compared with Generation X employees and Millennials, Baby Boomers are loyal and are easily attached to their organizations, and they believe

that hard work will pay off (Lu & Gursoy, 2016). Generation X employees are adaptable, individualistic, creative employees who value autonomy, freedom, and extrinsic rewards (Lu & Gursoy, 2016). Compared with Boomers, Gen-Xers are less work-centric and value a work-life balance and leisure (Lu & Gursoy, 2016). Similar to Baby Boomers, Millennial employees are characterized as driven and demanding of the work environment; they show confidence, voice their opinions, enjoy collective action, skills development, and enjoy looking for new opportunities and challenges (Lu & Gursoy, 2016). Millennials generally have high levels of self-confidence and self-reliance; they are independent, individualistic, and socially active and like to work in teams; they tend to emphasize self-development by searching for opportunities to learn and grow (Özçelik, 2015). Millennials reported significantly lower job satisfaction and higher turnover intention than Boomers when exhausted (Lu & Gursoy, 2016). Millennials have high expectations of rapid promotions, pay raises, instant feedback, and praise (Lu & Gursoy, 2016). Additionally, Millennials will quickly leave jobs where they feel their needs are not met (Tews et al., 2015). Individuals born in different generational time periods have employment needs and expectations that impact their decisions to remain in or leave a job. Similar to Özçelik (2015) and Lu and Gursoy, Mencl and Lester (2014) examined generational differences as they relate to work attitudes, job satisfaction, and turnover intention, and found that individuals from the various generations exhibited more similarities than differences for job satisfaction turnover intentions.

Tenure. Tenure is the length of time an employee spends in a given occupation (Butler, Brennan-Ing, Wardamasky, & Ashley, 2014). The number of years an employee has in a job also influences their decisions to remain in or leave a job (Butler et al., 2014). With respect to tenure, employees with higher years of tenure are less likely to a quit job than their less tenured counterparts (Hausknecht, 2014). Higher tenured employees who have reached higher levels of career attainment are more are will exhibit higher levels of organizational commitment and are therefore more likely to remain in a job (Hausknecht, 2014). Kabungaidze, Mahlatshana, and Ngirande (2013) found a statistically significant relationship exists between an employee's tenure and turnover intentions amongst teachers from disadvantaged schools in the Eastern Cape, South Africa. Specifically, the greater the number of years an employee has on a job, the lesser their turnover intentions (Kabungaidze et al., 2013).

Job-related factors. In addition to demographic variables that contribute to employee turnover, job-related factors may also contribute to employee turnover. Employee retention levels depend greatly on the personnel organizations hire and how they are managed (Agyeman & Ponniah, 2014). The battle to retain the most talented workforce begins during the hiring process and continues with deliberate retention strategies (Saraç et al., 2014). Saraç et al. (2014) suggested that employee engagement efforts may begin during the recruitment process. Managers can also assess candidates' fit with the organization's culture during the selection and recruitment process (Chatman, 1989). Recognizing the benefits of the P-O fit, leaders should include considerations

related to P-O fit and embedding factors when making hiring decisions (Agyeman & Ponniah, 2014). Wei (2015) examined how high-performance HR practices and P-O fit affect general human capital and turnover intention using a sample of 456 engineers and their immediate supervisors in 31 Taiwanese high-technology companies. Wei found that employees with higher P-O fits stayed in their jobs longer than those with lesser fit levels. The extent that organizations can influence employees' perceived level of fit within an organization, impacts the likelihood individuals desire to remain within the organization (Wei, 2015).

Efficient compensation and reward systems are important components of HRM (Pentareddy & Suganthi, 2015). An organization's compensation system is an influential mechanism that impacts employees' commitment levels and their desires to remain in or leave a job (Terera & Ngirande, 2014). An organization may offer a compensation package as enticing as, or more enticing than incentives offered by competitors to retain its workforce is to (Pentareddy & Suganthi, 2015). Ertas (2015) found that professional development and merit-based promotions have a considerable impact on employees' turnover intentions. Organizational leaders may also use reward systems to attract and retain personnel (Terera & Ngirande, 2017). Supervisors may provide rewards and incentives to encourage employees to make the maximum effort to achieve organizational objectives (Scott, Sewell, & Odom, 2015). Timms et al. (2015) suggested that employees are likely to stay in organizations where they believe their efforts are appreciated, and contrarily employees are likely to leave an organization where they feel undervalued or

unappreciated. Rewards programs should include monetary and nonmonetary incentives (Timms et al., 2015). Monetary rewards shown to increase employee retention include performance bonuses (Timms et al., 2015). Non-monetary rewards included promotions, childcare facilities, flexible work arrangements and extended leave programs (Timms et al., 2015).

Leadership

Minimizing employee turnover is a strategic necessity for organizations to gain and maintain a sustainable competitive advantage (George, 2015). Leadership is one's ability to influence others to commit to the leader's desired objectives (McCkleskey, 2014). Leadership involvement and effective leadership practices impact employee turnover levels (Ashraf, Farooq, & Din, 2014). Leaders have an important role in motivating, developing, and engaging employees, which could potentially promote positive outcomes for achieving to the organization's mission and strategic objectives (Zhang, Avery, Bergsteiner, & More, 2014).

Rafiee, Bahrami, and Entezarian (2015) reported committed HRMs are integral for an organization to gain a competitive advantage. As principle elements of an organization's foundation, HRMs are responsible for reinforcing organizational commitment by identifying organizational barriers, supporting employees, modeling expected behaviors, and making strategic decisions (Rafiee et al., 2015). Managerial communication efforts could lead to higher job commitment from employees and subsequently lower the rate of the employees' turnover intentions (Kim et al., 2014). The

way leaders communicate with employees impacts their inability to motivate employees (Barrick, Mount, & Li, 2013). Voinea, Bush, Opran, and Vladutescu (2015) asserted that managerial communication is a mechanism for organizational leaders to help employees understand the flow of information in its desired form throughout an organization to ensure an understanding and unity of effort in meeting organizational objectives.

Effective communication programs allow leaders at all levels to build relationships between employees, customers, and the organization (Murshed, Uddin, & Hossain, 2015).

Leaders who promote consistent communication relationships establish a channel within the organization that supports employee engagement (Murshed et al., 2013).

To gain a better understanding of the causes and consequences of employee turnover, I conducted a review of and analyzed literature relevant to employee job embeddedness and employee turnover theories and models. My specific focus areas included employee turnover, job satisfaction, and retention strategies. Retaining employees is central to the success of any organization (Terera & Ngurande, 2014). Understanding the determinants of employee turnover may result in direct and indirect financial saving to organizations (Dale-Olsen, 2014). As discussed in this review of the professional and academic literature, a guiding element of retention through the lens of job embeddedness is the notion that employees will remain in a job when a combination of on-the-job and off-the-job (community) influences make leaving disadvantageous (Choi & Kim, 2015).

Leaders may also enhance employee engagement incentives by establishing formal socialization processes and mentoring programs (Roberts, 2014). Employee needs are essential elements of employee engagement initiatives (Saratun, 2016). Qazi, Khalid, and Shafique (2015) suggested organizational leaders may increase employee retention by implementing work engagement policies to engage and support employees. Organizational leaders may host social events, which create networking opportunities that may result in some personnel expanding their social networks (Anitha, 2014). These social connections may then constitute links to bind employees to their jobs. Porter, Woo, and Campion (2016) investigated the separate effects of internal networking and external networking on job embeddedness and employee turnover. Ferreira (2017) found that leaders use employee engagement efforts to facilitate a psychological attachment to an organization. Ferreira examined the relationship between ethical leadership and job embeddedness using a sample of 343 employees from 40 different private and public Portuguese institutions and found that perceived supervisor support mediated the influence of ethical leadership on job embeddedness. Specifically, Ferreira proposed leaders at all levels should focus on employees' needs and support, train, and subordinates according to their needs.

As organizations become increasingly dynamic as older members of the workforce approach retirement and younger members start their careers, HR professionals should incorporate internal employee engagement and employee support strategies to meet the needs of employees in various generational segments (Lu &

Gursoy, 2016). When developing employee engagement strategies, the values and preferences employees from each of the generations should be considered (Fishman, 2016). In line with Lu and Gursoy's (2016) study on the organizational impacts of employees' generational differences, Özçelik (2015) presented evidence regarding the significance of internal branding in engaging millennial employees. Leaders should understand employees' specific needs and develop strategies that enable employees from all generational sects to be engaged in their organization (Fishman, 2016). Members of each generational sector have distinct work values, preferences, and expectations (Lyons, Schweitzer, & Ng, 2015). These differences are likely to result in different levels of job satisfaction and turnover intention across the three generations (Fishman, 2016).

Employee Development

Employee development occurs when employers provide opportunities for and facilitate the refinement of employees' skills, capacities, and capabilities to meet or surpass standard performance levels (Abbas, Raja, Darr, & Bouckenooghe, 2014).

Organizational leaders may use employee development initiatives to improve employee efficiency, which may translate into increased profitability and improved employee retention levels (Fu & Deshpande, 2014). Jehanzeb and Bashir (2013) reported that an investment of \$1,575 per employee towards development activities may yield a 24% growth in gross profit. Employee development is likely to improve employee retention because personnel generally value continuous development opportunities (Ferreira, 2017). The efforts of a company towards retaining employees, often represented by

endeavors such as development programs may increase the degree of employees' embeddedness and organizational commitment levels (Park & Shaw, 2013). George (2015) posited that well-structured personnel development programs have a positive impact on employee retention efforts. Organizations can develop employees through a variety of methods which include training, compensation, and reward programs (Rajappan et al., 2017).

Training. Providing training opportunities is an intrinsic motivator that organizational leaders may offer employees. In companies that provide training and development opportunities to their employees, the turnover is, on average, 45% lower than in organizations with similar programs or services but without development programs (Jehanzeb & Bashir, 2013). Kim et al. (2014) asserted that HRM may use human resource practices such as training to lower the employee turnover rates. Organizations can provide training and allow for alternative duties to enhance organizational trust to improve employee retention (Kim et al., 2014). Hernandez, Stanley, and Miller (2014) found that employees who received skills development training were more committed to their organization and more likely to support the firm's strategic objectives. Consistent with Hernandez et al. (2014), Shuck, Twyford, Reio, and Shuck (2014) examined possible linkages between human resource development (HRD) practices and employee engagement and turnover intentions using a sample population of 207 healthcare facility employees. Shuck et al. presented evidence that a causal connection exists between training opportunities organization provide employees and the

effectiveness of the organization. In this way, organizations can use HRD to improve employee engagement and reduce turnover intent. Accommodating employees' desire for professional development may act as a mechanism to create or strengthen on-the-job links and increase the level of sacrifice one may perceive when considering whether to leave or remain in a job (Jehanzeb & Bashir, 2013). George (2015) echoed Park and Shaw (2013) that creating opportunities for employees to develop new competencies is a mechanism to embed and retain personnel. Employee training and development are symbolically valuable to some employees, as they demonstrate the level of importance an organization assigns to its employees (George, 2015). In addition to intrinsic rewards such as training opportunities, companies may also offer employee extrinsic incentives in the form of financial compensation.

Employee Engagement

Employee engagement is the commitment and involvement of employees towards their organization and its values (Anitha, 2014). Employee engagement occurs when employees understand the organization's expectations, have sufficient resources to meet those expectations, participate in opportunities for growth and feedback, and feel valued by the organization (Hernandez et al., 2014). Treating employees as valued contributors to the organization is a recognized best practice for retaining employees (Terera & Ngirande, 2014). Organizational leaders may implement engagement strategies to engage, motivate, and ultimately retain employees (Anitha, 2014). Memon, Salleh, Baharom, and Harun (2014) presented evidence that a higher level of employee

engagement leads to decreased instances of employee turnover. Furthermore, Nafei (2014) suggested that leaders may use employee engagement techniques to adopt positive workplace behavioral practices that enhance employees' enthusiasm and psychological attachment to their jobs. Complementary with Nafei's findings, Hernandez et al. (2014) asserted that the benefits of employee engagement manifest as organizational competitiveness. Employees who are engaged are more likely to remain committed to their organization, and those who are not engaged will have a negative impact on an organization's performance by way of increased absenteeism, turnover, and decreased productivity (Albdour & Altarawneh, 2015). The more engaged employees are, the greater the likelihood that they will establish links and perceive sacrifices, which further embeds them in the organization (Hernandez et al., 2014).

Organizational Culture

Organizations may benefit the most from talented employees when organizational leaders recruit and retain personnel who fit into their culture (Memon et al., 2014).

Organizational culture consists of a firm's collective assumptions, beliefs, norms, and values (Dhar, 2015). An organization's culture shapes employees' behavior patterns (Wen, 2014). The fit between an individual and an organization can create a perception of a meaningful workplace environment, which in turn may dissuade employees from leaving the organization (Memon et al., 2014). Employees' perceptions of how well they fit with an organization may be just as influential as job design and duties in terms of their effect on intention to quit (Ghosh & Gurunathan, 2015). Inabinett and Ballaro

(2014) conducted a correlational study to determine the relationship between an organization's corporate culture and employees' individual values as they related to employee job satisfaction. Inabinett and Ballaro confirmed the correlation between corporate culture, individual values, and employee retention and provide evidence that retention rates are higher when employees' values matched to an organization's culture. Similarly, Marasi et al. (2016) asserted personnel tend to remain in an organization when their skills match their jobs and when a cultural similarity exists between them and the organization. Matching an individual's values with an organization's principles is thus mutually beneficial for the employee and the organization (Inabinett & Ballaro, 2014). The extent to which a job's requirements and demands match an employee's skills and allow them to utilize their talents affects the level of fit between the employee and organization influences employees' employment decisions (Inabinett & Ballaro, 2014). Additionally, employees' personal plans, career goals, and personal values affect their desires to remain in or leave a job (Inabinett & Ballaro, 2014).

Transition and Summary

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore-strategies some childcare center directors used to reduce employee turnover. In Section 1, I proposed Mitchell et al.'s (2001) job embeddedness theory to enhance an understanding of the strategies childcare center directors may use to reduce employee turnover and improve organizational effectiveness. I also provided the research question and interview questions that align with the general and specific business problems in the problem

statement. Mitchell et al.'s (2001) job embeddedness theory serves as the conceptual framework for this study. Section 1 also includes a description of the assumptions, limitations, and delimitations. To conclude this section, I introduced the significance of the study and the review of the literature published within the last 5 years of the study.

In Section 2, I included additional information on the purpose of the study, research method and design, and details regarding data collection and analysis.

Additionally, I discussed reliability and validity as they related to the study. In Section 3, I present findings of this study within the bounds of the conceptual framework and central research question. Additionally, I provide a discussion of the application to professional practice as well as implications for social change. I conclude Section 3 by providing: (a) recommendations for action, (b) recommendations for further research, and (c) my personal reflections.

Section 2: The Project

The focus of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore strategies some childcare center directors used to reduce employee turnover. In Section 1, I presented information on the job embeddedness theory as the conceptual framework and information pertinent to my research topic. I also detailed valuable information about my role as the researcher, the purpose of the study, and the criteria for selecting prospective participants. Additionally, I provided a detailed description of information regarding the population for the study, ethical research guidelines, and reliability and validity standards. I conclude this section with a summary and transition into Section 3, where I presented the application to professional practice and implications for change.

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore-strategies some childcare center directors used to reduce employee turnover. The target population consisted of four directors of nonfranchised childcare centers in Houston, Texas with more than 5 years of experience who have implemented strategies to reduce employee turnover. These childcare center directors were the appropriate population to participate in the study due to their lived experiences and success with strategies to reduce employee turnover. The implications of this study for positive social change included the potential to contribute to the prosperity of employees and communities. Personnel with sustained employment may be able to live more financially secure lives. Additionally, local

government officials may use tax revenues generated from employed personnel to enhance community facilities and services.

Role of the Researcher

The role of the researcher includes planning, preparing, designing, collecting, analyzing, and reporting findings (Baškarada, 2015). My primary roles as the researcher were as the data collection instrument and to present a credible representation of findings. My specific responsibilities included collecting, analyzing, and objectively reporting data in accordance with Walden University's guidelines and ethical research principles.

Researchers are responsible to abide by ethical standards (Myers & Venable, 2014). Participants have a right to protection from undue harm, as well as respectful and equitable treatment while participating in research (The United States Department of Health and Human Services, 1978). In the *Belmont Report*, the United States Department of Health and Human Services (1978) established the three basic ethical principles for research with human subjects: (a) respect for persons, (b) beneficence, and (c) justice. I openly communicated with participants regarding the study to comply with standards outlined in the *Belmont Report*. I ensured participants' consent is voluntary and free of undue influence or coercion. I also explicitly informed participants of their rights as well as any risks associated with participating in the study.

Qualitative researchers have a responsibility to exercise due diligence to mitigate bias and avoid viewing data through a personal lens (Yin, 2017). With respect to the current study, I did not have any detailed knowledge of childcare center management, nor

do I have a relationship with any of the participants. I was familiar with employee turnover in childcare centers, as I worked as a childcare provider at a childcare center in 1999. Although I do not believe my limited experiential background caused me to have bias, I mitigated any potential bias by relying on the participants' responses rather than my own experiences and perspectives. An interview protocol is a script that researchers use to guide personal interviews (Doody & Noonan, 2013). I utilized an interview protocol to guide the interview process to ensure I asked each participant the same questions using the same procedures. Furthermore, I used an interview protocol to help me separate any opinions from respondents' answers regarding the research topic. I carefully constructed interview questions with neutral wording to avoid influencing the participants' responses. The interview questions (Appendix C) were relevant questions about strategies to decrease employee turnover.

Participants

Participant selection is central to research projects, as the researcher and participant collectively influence the outcome of the study (Vohra, 2014). Cleary, Horsfall, and Hayter (2014) suggested researchers select participants who are a good fit to the researcher's eligibility criteria. I applied the purposeful sampling technique to locate participants for this research study. Researchers use the purposeful sampling method to target those members of a population who meet certain established criteria (Elo et al., 2014). I selected participants based on their lived experiences and success with strategies to reduce employee turnover. Eligibility criteria are a set of shared

characteristics researchers wish to find in the participants (Cleary et al., 2014). I interviewed personnel who fit the following eligibility criteria: (a) a director position at a childcare center for at least 5 years, (b) an employment situation at a childcare center that is nonfranchised and not in-home, (c) a supervisory role for a minimum of three employees, and (d) a previous use of strategies that reduced employee turnover. Using purposeful sampling, to focus my research topic of employee turnover in childcare centers, my initial sample included four childcare center directors in Houston, Texas. I gained access to potential participants through a search of social media and business websites. I contacted potential participants who meet the eligibility criteria via email. I conducted semistructured telephone interviews.

Fletcher (2014) recommended interviewers deliberately take steps to establish working relationships with interviewees. The extent a researcher can establish rapport, foster trust, and demonstrate mutual respect has an impact on the richness of the data the researcher may obtain (Berger, 2015). Brett, O'Neill, and O'Gorman (2014) asserted that the consent process may serve as a mechanism to establish a rapport between researchers and participants. I used the consent process to enhance the researcher-participant relationship by communicating the significance of the study, as well as reassuring participants of their rights to ethical protection and confidentiality. During the preinterview email correspondence, I endeavored to establish a working relationship with each participant to build gradually a rapport of trust and confidence. First, I communicated openly to establish an avenue of openness and two-way communication. I

addressed any questions or concerns regarding the study. Second, I asked participants to select an interview setting and location of their choice that was be comfortable and nonthreatening to them.

Research Method and Design

Research Method

The three research methods available are the quantitative, qualitative, and mixed methods methodologies. I applied the qualitative research method in this study. The quantitative method is a mathematics-based research method used to test the relationships between variables (Ingham-Broomfield, 2014). Quantitative measures are useful to measure and quantify relationships, but they are not effective in capturing interactions between people (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). The quantitative method failed to meet the needs of this study, as I did not intend to investigate the relationship between a set of variables. In mixed methods research, the researcher conducts the study utilizing a combination of quantitative and qualitative techniques (Maxwell, 2015). Researchers use the mixed methods approach to develop a deep understanding of a phenomenon by integrating elements of quantitative and qualitative methods (Frels & Onwuegbuzie, 2013). The mixed methods approach was not appropriate for this research study due to the quantitative components inherent to the design of mixed methods.

Qualitative researchers explore participants' behaviors and perceptions to gain a deeper understanding of a contemporary phenomenon from a contextual standpoint (Heyvaert, Maes, & Onghena, 2013). The qualitative research method was ideal for this

study because it is a way for me to explore in-depth information regarding employee turnover in childcare centers.

Research Design

The three most commonly used qualitative designs are ethnography, phenomenology, and case study (Smith, 2015). I utilized the case study design in this study. Researchers use the ethnographic design to understand a phenomenon in the context of a specific culture (Baskerville & Myers, 2015). Researchers who use the ethnographic research design immerse themselves in the natural setting of the participants to learn their cultural norms and characteristics (Vesa & Vaara, 2014). The ethnographic research design was not suitable for this study, as I did not examine a group's cultural norms. Studying a group's cultural norms is not useful in understanding the business problem under study. Researchers use the phenomenological design to perform an indepth exploration of participants' experiences surrounding an event or object (Smith, 2015). The phenomenological design is used when a researcher seeks to generate detailed descriptions of how individuals experience a phenomenon under investigation (Pietkiewicz & Smith, 2014). Phenomenological research generally involves a small number of subjects observed over a prolonged period using interviews and observations (Moustakas, 1994). I did not select this design because I intended to explore the research topic using multiple data sources. With the case study design, researchers examine single or multiple cases bounded by time and place (Yin, 2017). Researchers use the case study design to uncover how various issues occur in their natural settings from an internal

perspective from participants with experiences related to a subject (Robinson, 2014). Hoon (2013) reported researchers may use the case study design to explore a phenomenon with data collected by methods such as: (a) interviews, (b) archival data, (c) audiovisual materials, and (d) physical artifacts. The case study design was most appropriate for this study because I explored the turnover in childcare centers from the internal perspectives of participants with firsthand knowledge and experience using multiple data sources. Additionally, the design was most suitable for me to build a rich conceptual description of the study topic using multiple cases.

Population and Sampling

The population of this multiple case study consisted of four childcare center directors in Houston, Texas who have implemented strategies that reduced employee turnover. There was no predetermined sample size for qualitative studies (Fusch & Ness, 2015). Fusch and Ness (2015) suggested researchers choose a sample size that has the best opportunity to achieve data saturation. I planned to recruit four participants for the study, but I remained cognizant that I may have to adjust my sample size to achieve data saturation. I determined the actual number of participants once I obtain sufficient data to reach data saturation.

Researchers conduct population sampling because, in most cases, it is impossible and impracticable to study an entire population (Robinson, 2014). Researchers employ sampling strategies to identify and select a target population. Siedlecki, Butler, and Burchill (2015) described purposeful sampling as the non-random selection of

participants from sampling cases representative of a larger population. Elo et al. (2014) suggested purposeful sampling is suitable when a researcher has an interest in participants who have the best knowledge concerning a research topic. I used the purposeful sampling method to select at least four childcare center directors. For this study, the participants met the following eligibility criteria: (a) a director position at a childcare center for at least 5 years, (b) an employment situation at a childcare center that is nonfranchised and not in-home, (c) a supervisory role for a minimum of three employees, and (d) a previous use of strategies that reduced employee turnover.

I emailed participants who met the eligibility criteria an invitation to participate in the study. I sent a follow-up email to participants who agree to participate in the study. Upon participant confirmation, I emailed participants a consent form for them to sign and return to me recordkeeping purposes. Once I received approval from the Walden Institutional Review Board (IRB), I conducted separate semistructured interviews via Skype or telephone with participants. I scheduled interviews to last no longer than one hour. Furthermore, I used an audio recorded to record interviews and maintain a journal to record observations I made during the interviews to include notes on participants' verbal and nonverbal responses.

Ethical Research

Ethical considerations were imperative in this study because it involved human subjects. Researchers who conduct studies with human subjects must ensure they take measures to protect participants from maltreatment and the abuse of their rights

throughout their involvement in the research (Myers & Venable, 2014). I exercised care to ensure I afforded participants the maximum ethical protection, by strictly adhering to Walden University's IRB guidelines, in addition to the principles outlined in the United States Department of Health and Human Services (1978) *Belmont Report*. Prior to inviting respondents to participate in my research study, I obtained Walden University's IRB approval. The Walden University IRB approval number for this study is 12-21-18-0566827 and it expires on December 20, 2019.

Researchers obtain participants' informed consent to attain and document an individual's agreement to participate in a study (Schrems, 2014). The informed consent process is in place to ensure prospective participants willingly agree to participate in the research project (Vesa & Vaara, 2014). I emailed potential participants a letter of introduction (Appendix A) and informed consent form before participants decide to participate in the study. The informed consent form included (a) the background information on the reason for the study, (b) my obligations and responsibilities to participants, (c) the risks and benefits of participating in the study, and (d) a privacy disclosure statement. I also notified participants of their right to withdraw their consent to participate in the study at any time before, during, or after data collection without consequence. Furthermore, participants retained the right to remove their responses from the final research report. I notified participants that their involvement in the study is strictly voluntary; therefore, they would not receive any compensation or incentives for contributing to the study. Additionally, I obtained written consent from participants to

record the interviews using a recording device during the data collection process in accordance with Walden's IRB protocols. I instructed participants who agree to participate in the study respond via email with the words 'I Consent.'

I exercised the utmost care in terms of participants' and organizations' confidentially and ethical rights by excluding participants' names or other personal identifiable information from interview audio recordings and interview notes. I did not record information that would enable the identification of childcare facilities and participants, and I identified participants using generic alphanumeric codes, e.g. Participant 1. I maintained a copy of electronic files on a password-protected flash drive stored in a locked desk drawer in my home office. I stored hardcopy material related to the study in a locked desk drawer in my home office. The naming convention for hardcopy files corresponded to the naming convention used for electronic files. I scanned and uploaded any written correspondence into the appropriate folders on my laptop. I stored a copy of electronic data on a password-protected flash drive in a locked desk drawer in my home office. I will retain the study data in a secure place for 5 years and afterwards destroy the data by shredding hardcopy documents via a paper shredder, deleting files stored on the laptop, and wiping, crushing, and burning the password protected flash drive.

Data Collection Instruments

Researchers are the primary data collection tools in qualitative research (Antwi, & Hamza, 2015). I was the primary data collection instrument for this qualitative case

study. I collected data utilizing semistructured interviews using open-ended questions and archival documentation for analysis. The purpose of semistructured interviews is to obtain participants' perspectives as their experiences relate to a topic (McIntosh & Morse, 2015). Case study researchers may explore a social problem using data collected in archival records (Hyett, Kenny, & Dickinson-Swift, 2014). Organizations capture, maintain, and transmit information pertaining to the business using some form of documentation (David, Dube, & Ngulube, 2013). Archived records are correspondences created by an organization that provides reliable information regarding the organization (Yu, Abdullah, & Saat, 2014). I asked participants if they have any additional records related to my research question.

Researchers may adhere to interview protocols to help mitigate researcher bias (Jørgensen, Dybå, Liestøl, & Sjøberg, 2016). An interview protocol may serve as a tool for researchers to organize the interview process as well as keep interviews focused and on topic (Castillo-Montoya, 2016). I adhered to an interview protocol (Appendix B) to enhance my study's dependability and minimize the effect of any potential bias.

Following the interview protocol, I began the interview sessions with questions to engage the participants, establish a rapport, and facilitate a level of comfort. I conducted member checking to enrich the validity of the data by ensuring I accurately captured the participant intended responses.

Data Collection Technique

The central research question that guided this study is what strategies do childcare center directors use to reduce employee turnover? Yilmaz (2013) asserted the goal of qualitative research is to discover as much about a subject as possible, as the richness of the data is contingent upon the exchange between researchers and respondents. I gathered detailed data regarding employee turnover in childcare centers from interviews with childcare center directors who use strategies to reduce employee turnover. I gathered data from archival records and semistructured interviews (Appendix C).

The semistructured interview is an effective way to collect qualitative data because it enables researchers to tailor questions to address specific issues (Khan, 2014). In semistructured interviews, interviewers ask open-ended questions and allow participants the freedom to respond to the questions as they wish; during which, the interviewer asks additional questions to obtain further data or clarification (McIntosh & Morse, 2015). An advantage of semistructured interviews is the tool's utility as a mechanism for participants to provide explanations to *how*, *what*, or *why* question regarding a phenomenon (Yin, 2017). A disadvantage of semistructured interviews is that the effectiveness of the data collection technique depends on the researcher's interpersonal and communication skills. During semistructured interviews, researchers engage interviewees in a dialogue. The success of the interview hinges on the interviewer's ability to question, listen, and respond to information respondents provide (Pietkiewicz & Smith, 2014).

Researchers may enhance the trustworthiness of their research findings by incorporating data from multiple sources (Baškarada, 2014). In addition to collecting data via semistructured interviews, I requested participants provide archived organizational documents. I utilized data from multiple sources to validate my data via methodological triangulation. Methodological triangulation is the use of multiple external sources to collect and analyze data to substantiate a finding to improve the validity and reliability of the research results (Ritchie, Lewis, Nicholls, & Ormston, 2013). Yin (2017) suggested qualitative researchers use interviews in conjunction with secondary data sources, such as archived record analysis, and observations to collect data.

Member checking is the process in which researchers give participants the opportunity to review research findings for accuracy and validity (Cho & Lee, 2014). Member checking enhances research creditability and dependability (Birt, Scott, Cavers, Campbell, & Walter, 2016). Morse (2015) outlined a 3-step process to conduct member checking: (a) researcher interviews participant, (b) researcher interprets participant responses, and (c) participants validate researcher's interpretation of their responses. I used member checking to confirm my interpretation of the data was appropriate. I continued to conduct semistructured interviews until I attained data saturation, at which time participants' answers became repetitive and interviews fail to yield new data or themes.

Data Organization Techniques

Researchers organize data by tracking, sorting, and securing information in preparation for data analysis (Yin, 2017). I kept a journal to track and organize participants' responses as well as to record observations I make during the interviews to include notes on participants' nonverbal cues. Data organization is necessary to maintain the integrity of data (Anyan, 2013). Gibson and Brand (2013) reported that researchers should ensure participant confidentiality by identifying participants using generic codes. I identified participants by a generic alphanumeric code beginning with Participant 1 to ensure respondent anonymity. I maintained a copy of electronic files on a passwordprotected flash drive stored in a locked desk drawer in my home office. I named the main folder Childcare Center Turnover. I used subfolders to track participant-related information; names of the subfolders matched the generic name used to identify the corresponding participant. I stored hardcopy material related to the study in a locked desk drawer in my home office. The naming convention for hardcopy files corresponded to the naming convention used for electronic files. I scanned and uploaded any written correspondence into the appropriate folders on my laptop. I stored a copy of electronic data on a password-protected flash drive in a locked desk drawer in my home office. I will securely store data for 5 years. I wiped, crushed, and burned the password protected flash drive after the 5th year. I destroyed interview notes, informed consent forms, and other hardcopies by shredding the documents using a paper shredder.

Data Analysis

Qualitative data analysis is the conversion of raw data into a message that conveys the researcher's conclusion, interpretation, or understanding of a topic (Lewis, 2015). The purpose of data analysis is to make sense of collected data (Palinkas et al., 2015). Researchers use triangulation to reduce both researcher bias and the likelihood of data misinterpretation (Cho & Lee, 2014). To triangulate data, researchers use multiple sources of data and analysis to explore the multiple levels and dimensions of a phenomenon (Fusch & Ness, 2015). Methodological triangulation is the use of multiple external sources to collect and analyze data to substantiate a finding to improve the validity and reliability of the research results (Ritchie et al., 2013). To triangulate data, I collected data from two sources. I obtained data from semistructured interviews as well as organizational documentation relevant to the research topic. Additionally, I analyzed data to link information from the literature review, themes from the interview data, and data drawn from company documentation to demonstrate methodological triangulation.

Researchers enhance the thoroughness of their qualitative data analysis by utilizing computer software (Male, 2016). NVivo is a computer software program with the capability to store data; researchers also use the software to aid with data coding and categorizing data according to emerging themes and data similarities (QSR International Pty Ltd, 2017). I utilized NVivo to organize, sort, code, and subsequently analyze data. Coding is the process of reducing data into elements and classifying information into clusters based on its relation to the entire data set (Vaismoradi, Jones, Turunen, &

Snelgrove, 2016). A code is a label used to denote something of interest about the data (Clarke & Braun, 2014). After systematically reviewing transcribed interview data and company documents data, I used NVivo to create a list of codes based on repetitive words or phrases that relate to the research question and conceptual framework. After I generated a list of codes based on repetitive keywords and phrases, I used the axial coding technique to identify connections between categories and subcategories. Axial coding is the process of developing major categories and sub-categories (Homburg, Wilczek, & Hahn, 2014).

Researchers use themes in qualitative data analysis to methodically sort data and search for patterns helpful to the generation of full descriptions of the phenomenon under study (Cho & Lee, 2014). A theme identifies a meaning patterned across the dataset, which is important for illuminating the research question (Clarke & Braun, 2014). Clarke and Braun (2014) posited a good theme is distinct and may standalone, but the themes should fit jointly together to form a comprehensible analytic picture. Once I categorized the data by themes, I analyzed the data to construct a thematic map for further thematic analysis. I continued thematic analysis to ensure themes connect in a logical and meaningful manner to frame the data interpretation and final conclusions. I used thematic analysis to focus on and uncover information related to the research question and conceptual framework as I detailed in the literature review. Furthermore, I used an iterative data analysis process to continually seek out scholarly research relevant to the study. On a continuing basis, I tracked keywords and themes to remain within the

bounds of the conceptual framework and to correlate findings from the study with those of other scholars.

Reliability and Validity

Study methodology, design, data collection, analysis, and reporting techniques all impact a study's reliability and validity and affect the practical application of a researcher's findings. Measures of reliability and validity in qualitative research differ from those in quantitative research (Cope, 2014). Validity and reliability of qualitative research are not quantifiable; rather they are based on subjective data that include individuals' beliefs, experience, and perspectives (Fusch & Ness, 2015). The criteria for assessing the reliability and validity of qualitative studies are dependability, credibility, transferability, and confirmability (McIntosh & Morse, 2015).

Dependability

The concept of reliability in quantitative studies is known as dependability in qualitative studies (Munn, Porritt, Lockwood, Aromataris, & Pearson, 2014). Baillie (2015) posited that a study is dependable when the research is replicable, and another researcher could conduct a similar study using like procedures and achieve comparable results. I used an interview protocol to make certain I do not to introduce new questions or skip any question to any participant. The interview protocol also served as a tool for future researchers to conduct a similar study using like procedures. Additionally, researchers may enhance dependability by leaving an audit trail that includes notes on their methodological and procedural decisions, as well as documents produced and

corrected during the research procedure (Cho & Lee, 2014). Another method I used to enhance the reliability of my study is to triangulate data by utilizing multiple data collection methods. My study included data obtained from interviews and archival documental analysis to demonstrate methodological triangulation.

Credibility

Credibility is the degree of participants' confidence in the study results (Elo et al., 2014). The credibility of a study reflects the level of accuracy and confidence in a researcher's findings (Anney, 2014). To improve credibility. I ensured the interview questions directly align with the research question. I also asked probing questions to obtain clarification on any responses that are not clear. I continued with the interviews until no new themes or data emerge. I used member checking to enhance the credibility of my study. Member checking is the process in which researchers allow participants to verify the accuracy of the analyzed data and confirm information presented in the study is a truthful representation of the participants' experiences and views (Birt et al., 2016). After I conducted data analysis, I shared the final draft of the analyzed data with the participants and gave them an opportunity to confirm my interpretation.

Transferability

Transferability is the extent to which a researcher's findings are applicable in other contexts (Elo et al., 2014). Marshall and Rossman (2016) posited the burden to demonstrate a researcher's findings are applicable in another setting belongs to future researchers. The determination of the study's transferability is the responsibility of those

who read and apply the concepts provided within the study (Cope, 2014). I cannot guarantee transferability; however, I maximized transferability by meticulously documenting the entire research process as a guide for future researchers. I enhanced transferability by providing detailed descriptions regarding my rationale for the selection of the population and sample size.

Confirmability

Confirmability is the potential for others to confirm the data presented accurately reflects the intentions of the participants and not those of the researcher (Elo et al., 2014). Researchers enhance confirmability by ensuring the objectivity of the data (Cope, 2014). I made every effort to mitigate any bias by basing my findings on credible, defendable data collected throughout the course of the research project, rather than my personal beliefs or experiences. Through member checking, participants verified that study information represents their true intentions. Member checking enhances a study's confirmability, as it ensures the views presented in the research reflect those of the participants and not those of the researcher (Elo et al., 2014). Researchers may also enhance the validity of research findings when they triangulate data as well as achieve data saturation (Fusch & Ness, 2015). I achieved methodological triangulation in this study by capturing data from interviews as well from archival documents.

Researchers reach data saturation when they no longer receive additional information useful to address the research question (Malterud, Siersma, & Guassora, 2016). Reaching data saturation ensured the findings are confirmable and transferable

through the selection of the best suited participants to participate in the research process. Obtaining data saturation allows researchers to demonstrate that the research has an adequate sample to establish reliability and validity (Morse, Lowery, & Steury, 2014). A sample size is justifiable when a researcher reaches the point of saturation (Morse, 2015). Data saturation relates to the quality of data obtained from participants, and not the numerical quantity of the sample size (Fusch & Ness, 2015). I did not have a predetermined quantitative sample size for the study. I determined the sample size based on my ability to achieve data saturation.

Transition and Summary

Section 2 included an overview and restatement of the purpose statement as well as an explanation of my role as the researcher and justification of the selected research method and design. The section also included information used to address ethical considerations, participant selection methods, and a discussion of the data analysis used to address the reliability and validity of the study. I used methodological triangulation, through semistructured interviews, member checking, and a review of company documents to enhance the reliability and validity of the research findings. In Section 3, I provide a presentation of my findings, which includes a description of the study's application to professional practice in addition to implications for social change. Section 3 also includes recommendations for future action and further research as well as the researcher's reflections.

Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change Introduction

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore strategies some childcare center directors use to reduce employee turnover. I interviewed four purposefully selected childcare center directors in Houston, Texas. I triangulated data collected using information gathered from two data sources: semistructured interviews and archival documents for the final analysis. My data analysis indicated childcare center directors may reduce employee turnover by incorporating strategies that include compensation, managerial communication, organizational culture, and rewards and recognition programs. In Section 3, I include the presentation of my findings, application to professional practice, recommendations for action, recommendations for further research, and implications for social change. I conclude Section 3 with my personal reflections and research study conclusions.

Presentation of the Findings

The central research question for this study was: What strategies do childcare center directors use to reduce employee turnover? Four participants who met the study's eligibility requirements volunteered data for the study after completing the informed consent process. I interviewed four childcare center directors in Houston, Texas who: (a) were in a director position at a childcare center for at least 5 years, (b) employed at a childcare center that is nonfranchised and not in-home, (c) supervise a minimum of three employees, and (d) used successful strategies to reduce employee turnover. I conducted

semistructured interviews with open-ended questions to allow participants to answer interview questions on strategies they used to reduce employee turnover. Participants answered six questions pertaining to the research question. The semistructured interviews lasted no longer than 1 hour. In the presentation of the findings, I replaced the names of the participants with generic labels, i.e., Participant 1, Participant 2, Participant 3, and Participant 4, to maintain the participants' confidentiality. In order to gain a better understanding of strategies some childcare center directors use to reduce employee turnover, I framed the study using Mitchell et al.'s (2001) job embeddedness theory.

Based on qualitative research and data analysis I identified four major themes: (a) compensation, (b) managerial communication, (c) organizational culture, and (d) rewards and recognition.

Theme 1: Compensation

Compensation measures are an essential element of an employee retention strategy (Patil & Sharma, 2014). Compensation is as important in retaining employees as it in recruiting employees (Syahreza, Lumbanraja, Dalimunthe, & Absah, 2017). All of the participants (Participant 1, Participant 2, Participant 3, and Participant 4) noted financial compensation is generally a factor in voluntary turnover. Participant 2 highlighted that duties of childcare providers may be physically and emotionally demanding at times. Participant 2 cited "while the wages I pay my employees are comparable with those within the childcare industry, they are lower than those offered for less stressful duties or positions requiring the same level of education." Participant 2

further reported that as it relates to pay, she believes could never pay employees their true worth, because she does not believe there is a dollar amount that can fully compensate someone for caring for children, but she makes every effort to do what she can with the resources she has. Participant 4 conducts exit interviews with departing employees to learn first-hand why employee leave her childcare center. Based on the exit interviews, Participant 4 shared that she found that more than half of the interviewees cited low wages as a major factor that led to their decision to leave the organization. Participant 4 further noted,

I recognize the influence pay has on employees' decisions to stay or leave a job.

The reality of the childcare industry is that it is generally not a high paying line of work, so I find ways other than offering financial compensation to boost my employee retention. I utilize methods I am able to offer to counterbalance my inability to offer substantial financial incentives. I try to learn what motivates individual employees and offer incentives tailored to meet their individual needs.

Findings indicated employee dissatisfaction with compensation influences employee turnover. Although pay was mentioned as a reason that employees leave an organization by all participants, all participants also reported that solely increasing employees' pay was not the most desired strategy to reduce employee turnover. All participants cited that they implemented multifaceted approaches that include but are not limited to providing financial incentives to retain employees. To this end, childcare

center directors with the financial ability may utilize compensation strategies to reduce employee turnover.

The theme of compensation aligns with Mitchell et al. (2001)'s job embeddedness theory; whereby, the perceived compatibility between employees' individual characteristics and the conditions of their work environment affects employees' willingness to remain in an organization. Most people maintain employment for the income generated to meet their financial needs. Some employees leave a job based on financial reasons because they must, and not because they want to. Employees who are unable to meet their basic financial obligations are likely to leave an organization (Kossivi, Xu, & Kalgora, 2016).

Theme 2: Managerial Communication

Managerial communication is of the utmost importance to organizational success (Al Mehrzi & Singh, 2016). The purpose of communicating with employees is not solely to gain tactical-level insight from within the organization. Communicating with employees is also an opportunity to uncover alternative perspectives that could warn of factors that may lead to instances of employee turnover (Vladutescu, 2015). All participants stressed the importance of encouraging and maintaining open dialogue channels. Participant 1 shared experiences resulting from the lack of effective communication. In Participant 1's experience, ineffective communication created a contagious feeling of secrecy, hidden agendas, and general feelings of tension.

Participant 1 explained, "I have found that we communicate continually, whether we

intend to or not. We communicate with our actions as well as our inactions; by in large, everything we do communicates some type of message."

In line with Kim and Timmerman's (2018) recommendation for managers to use face-to-face communication to clarify tasks and expectations, Participant 2 noted that providing clear guidance and direction to employees could help to make employees feel like valued members of the organization. Participant 2's policy is to communicate faceto-face as much as possible and communicate electronically or in writing when necessary. Participant 2 stated "I utilize face-to-face communication to build trust relationships." Participant 3 found that involving employees in decision-making is an effective tactic to influence some employees to remain in the organization. Participant 3 provided details on the benefits of having an open-door communication policy, where employees can come into the director's office as needed and speak freely. Participant 3 shared, "I have an open door policy so employees know I'm available to talk or just listen." Participant 3 further explained the objective of the open-door policy is to remove barriers to communication, which allows her to not only gauge employee performance, but also establish and nurture relationships with employees on a personal level. Participant 3 places great value on ensuring employees know their ideas, questions, and concerns are welcome and valued. This is also a means for childcare directors to learn about things happening at various levels within the organization. Participant 4 shared that, in her experience, when one employee perceives a problem, chances are high that the affected employee has shared their concerns with others. To get ahead of rumors and

impending negative communication, Participant 4 created a system to solicit feedback. Participant 4's organization implemented a quarterly anonymous online survey, which enables the organization to gain insight at a tactical level on items of interest. In a group setting, the organization then talks about the items noted in the survey. Participant 4 makes it a habit to share policies and lessons learned from positive and negative experiences to increase organizational learning and avoid repeating the same mistakes. Furthermore, Participant 4 shared that she lives by the mantra "documentation beats conversions." She went on to explain that while she recognizes the value of verbal conversations, she believes the adage that if something is not in writing, the opportunity exists for someone to say it did not actually happen. She ensures the company's policies are written and available to employees in writing, and employees are expected to acknowledge the policies in writing as well to communicate expectations, facilitate understanding, and ensure compliance.

Clear communication is essential to maximize knowledge sharing, provide clarity to organizational tasks, as well as instill mutual trust between employees. Based on participants' responses, findings suggest communication is inevitable, taking the time to deliberately craft a message and control a narrative is a worthy investment of time and effort. Results of the study suggest effective communication, or the lack thereof, influences employee turnover; therefore, childcare center directors may use communication managerial communication strategies to reduce employee turnover.

The theme of managerial communication and feedback aligns with the fit, link, and sacrifice components of the job embeddedness theory. Qazi et al. (2015) found that organizational communication and feedback systems are embedding mechanisms organizations may utilize to reduce employee turnover. Managers may enhance organizational trust and transparency by providing frequent feedback (Qazi et al., 2015). Ineffective communication results in the perception of office politics and diminished organizational trust, which were precursors to instances of employee turnover (Marasi's et al., 2016). Managers who communicate effectively may build a strong network of individuals and the organization (Murshed, Uddin, & Hossain, 2015). Employees with established links and networks within an organization are embedded in an organization, and they are likely to remain in the organization depending of the strength of their links.

Theme 3: Organizational Culture

The way an organization is structured and led impacts employee turnover rates (Al Mamun & Hasan, 2017). Belias and Koustelios (2014) defined organizational culture as shared beliefs and values which guide the employees' behavior. An organization's operating environment and culture are instrumental in retaining employees (Gallus & Frey, 2016). Participant 1 discussed the effect of an organization's emotional environment on employees' decisions to remain in a job. Participant 1 also noted that employees are an organization's greatest assets and they should feel as such. As such, Participant 1 makes a consorted effort to maintain a conducive work environment where employees feel they belong, supported, appreciated, and have a sense of purpose.

Participant 4 shared her practice of integrating elements of the organization's mission and vision into job announcements for vacant positions, new hire interviews, as well as employee performance evaluations. Participant 4 stressed the importance of putting employees first, while focusing on accomplishing the mission. Participant 4 ensures employees know their individual roles and contributions fit into the organization's greater goals. Participant 4 also explained that her organization's mission, vision, and values are the foundation of their culture and reinforce organizational objectives through various human resource management processes; therefore, she posts the organization's mission, vision, and values in multiple places throughout the organization as subtle reminders to employees and customers what the organization stands for.

Participant 2 deliberately attempts to indoctrinate new employees into the organization by pairing them with more seasoned members during the first 30 days of employment. Participant 2 explained that the benefits of assigning mentors to new employees makes employees feel welcomed and apart of the team; it also reduces the time it takes for personnel to become aware of the norms and expectations within the organization. The faster employees feel like they are a part of the team, the faster they can actually perform as a team. Similarly, Participant 3 proclaimed constructing a strong organizational culture through efforts to build camaraderie, institute mentorship programs, foster teamwork, and promote team celebrations. Her goal is to develop relationships among employees and foster teamwork and camaraderie. Participant 3 aims to create a close-knit family-type working environment. Participant 3 shared,

Families are our business. There is no better way demonstrate the value we place on families and taking care of families than creating a family-like atmosphere, where the staff feels like they are a part of a work family. I schedule activities for the staff to do as a group monthly. Sharing lunch or dinner together and weekend outings with all of our immediate families are the events the staff seem to enjoy. It is important that my staff know that not only do I expect them to care for other families, but also that I value them as a part of our greater organizational family.

An organization's culture influences employee performance and is necessary to obtain organizational success (Fatima, 2016). Belias and Koustelios (2014) reported that managerial behaviors shape the culture within an organization. Findings from this study indicate childcare center directors may implement a strategy centered on developing a strong organizational culture to reduce employee turnover.

This theme supports the three dimensions of job embeddedness. Inabinett and Ballaro (2014) concluded that a correlation exists between an organization's culture, individual values, and employee retention, and provided evidence to support the notion that retention rates are higher when employees' values match an organization's culture. Employees' perceptions of how well their values align with the values of their employers affects employees' intentions to quit (Ghosh & Gurunathan, 2015). Managers may implement mentoring programs to engage and embed employees in an organization to keep employees focused on the organization's mission and objectives (Gallus & Frey, 2016). The battle to retain employees begins during the hiring process and continues

with deliberate strategies to reduce turnover, as employees who experience a sense of belonging within an organization are less likely to want to leave the organization (Saraç, Efil, & Eryilmaz, 2014).

Theme 4: Rewards and Recognition

Formal and informal recognition programs are instruments leaders may use to reduce employee turnover (Gallus & Frey, 2016). Managers may use monetary and nonmonetary rewards to show employees that their skills and contributions are valued (Wang et al., 2015). Participant 1 views her role in recognizing employees are one of her core leadership responsibilities. Participant 1 implemented an "employee of the month" recognition program, where she presents certificates at staff meetings to the employee or team of employees selected for the month. Participant 1 found this reward system to be an effective means to motivate and engage employees. Participant 1 selects an employee of the month to have their photo displayed where it is visible by other employees as well as customers for the remainder of the month. Participant 1 also noted that while some of her employees report they are in the childcare industry because they have a passion for taking care of children, she emphasized the importance of both intrinsic and extrinsic rewards to engage and inspire employees. Participant 2 highlighted the importance of ensuring employees feel appreciated. Participant 2 stated "I recognize my employees to acknowledge their hard work and encourage them to do their best." She acknowledged that working in the childcare industry may be stressful and emphasized the importance of making it a habit of thanking employees. Participant 1 stated

Working in a childcare center can sometimes feel like a thankless job. My goal is to exercise the power of two simple words *thank you*. Telling someone "*thank you*" is a cost-effective way to express gratitude and making people feel appreciated. Thanking someone can sometimes achieve an affect, I do not think money can buy.

Participant 4 highlighted the significance of implementing a peer-to-peer recognition program where employees vote for the employee of the month. Participant 4 touted success with peer recognition programs, as she found employees responded to accolades from peers differently than those received from supervisors. Participant 4 explained, "employees expect to be recognized and rewarded by their bosses; it is a common belief that recognition is inherent to leadership and management positions. Peer recognition, on the other hand, is often well because it is unexpected." Abdulsalam et al. (2015) reported that employees are less likely to leave a job when an organization offers a combination of, pay, promotion potential, and rewards. Managers should understand factors that motivate their staff and establish a reward system to appropriately acknowledge desired behaviors. Childcare centers directors may reduce employee turnover by develop strategies that involve rewarding employees for their performance and achievements.

This theme supports the three dimensions of job embeddedness. Managers may use employee recognition programs to create a positive, productive organizational climate, where employees may feel appreciated and are therefore more likely to want to

remain in the organization. The more valued employees feel, the greater the likelihood that they will establish links and perceive sacrifices, which further embeds them within the organization (Kossivi & Kalgora, 2016).

Applications to Professional Practice

A leader's ability to effectively manage employee turnover is a significant determining factor in an organization's sustainability outlook (Ugoami, 2016). Findings from this study add to the existing body of knowledge detailing the significance of effective policies and practices related to reducing employee turnover. In line with Akunda, Chen, and Gikiri's (2018) proposal, findings from this study reveal strategies that are deliberately planned and carefully crafted are most effective in reducing employee turnover. Furthermore, consistent with Antoni, Baeten, Perkins, Shaw & Vartiainen's (2017) research, findings from this study show employee recognition and appreciation programs that include both financial compensation and nonfinancial incentives are key components of strategies that may be effectively to reduce employee turnover. Similarly to findings presented in this study, De Vito, Brown, Bannister, Cianci, and Mujtaba (2018) found that communication flow within an organization had a direct effect on employee's perception of the institution and also a factor in employees' decision remain in a job; therefore an organization's employee retention strategy should include initiatives regarding direct, clear, two-way communication. Although this study focused on a small number of childcare center directors in Houston, Texas, findings related to strategies to reduce employee turnover in childcare centers may be transferable to a larger setting. The professional implication of this study is to provide childcare center directors with strategies they may use to develop actionable solutions and standard business practices to reduce employee turnover as well as increase productivity and profitability.

Implications for Social Change

Managing employee turnover is a fundamental HRM component that affects an organization's profitability and sustainability. This qualitative multiple case study is meaningful to childcare center directors who aim to develop and adopt strategies to decrease employee turnover. The implications of this study for positive social change include the potential to contribute to the prosperity of employees and communities.

Benefits to communities extend from the stability childcare centers provide as places of employment for individuals. Personnel with sustained employment may be able to live more financially secure. Additionally, continued operation of childcare centers generates revenue that contributes to growth of the local economy. Local government officials may use tax revenues received from employed personnel and businesses to enhance community facilities and services.

Recommendations for Action

Findings from this study provide childcare center directors who are experiencing high employee turnover with knowledge and strategies to reduce employee turnover. By implementing the strategies shared by participants, other childcare center directors may be able to decrease employee turnover, which might help improve productivity,

sustainability, and financial viability. I recommend childcare center directors review the findings of this study and implement strategies applicable to their organization. Based upon the results of this study, I have three recommendations for actions from which childcare center directors may benefit; (a) design recognition initiatives to reward employees, (b) anchor the organization's culture on the organization's priorities, and (c) maximize communication flow.

Design Recognition Initiatives to Reward Employees

Childcare center directors should implement an employee reward and recognition program. Showing employees that they are appreciated and valued using intrinsic and extrinsic means is an investment in the morale and well-belling of employees, which may yield a return in the form of high employee retention and employee productivity levels. Rewarding employees for exceptional performance may lead to increased organizational commitment and productivity, which may in turn result in a reduction in employee turnover. There is universally no accepted method to recognize or reward employees. Organizations should offer an expanded reward system, as employees regard motivation and reward differently (Terera & Ngirande, 2017). Participants in this study utilized various reward techniques based on factors unique to their staff and organizations, with the ultimate objective of ensuring employees feel valued. Managers should analyze the employees' needs, as well as, the means available to within organization and reward as they find appropriate.

Anchor the Organization's Culture on the Organization's Priorities

Childcare center managers should take steps to deliberately create an organizational culture founded on the organization's values, where employees are engaged and feel valued. Managers should define, reinforce, and reward behaviors and practices consistent with the organization's culture. Organizational culture consists of a widely accepted standards, norms, and values, which are demonstrated and reinforced by management (Corner, 2016). As an organization's culture is based on expected practices and behavior, expectations should be codified in a policy and reinforce with actions and behaviors. A strategically crafted culture, aligned with the organization's core competencies, is a means to build a strong team of employees with a shared set of values who have a common understanding of the organization's priorities.

Maximize Communication Flow

Brewster and Brauer (2016) reported effective communication hinges on a person's ability to communicate both verbally and non-verbally. Childcare center directors should implement managerial communication practices to maximize communication flow to reduce employee turnover. Soliciting, and accepting, and providing feedback is a crucial part of communication, and impacts employee turnover (Tanius, Pheng, Kasim, & Yulia, 2017). Managerial communication practices designed to exploit information sharing are key to achieving a healthy workplace. Effective communication allows leaders to provide guidance relative to the organization's strategic goals, set expectations, enforce standards, as well as understand the pulse of frontline employees.

To promote distribution of the findings of this study, dissemination of this research will occur through numerous methods. Leaders from the partner organization and all participants received a 2-page summary of the findings to disseminate among peers and other business managers and leaders. This study will also be published and available through the ProQuest/UMI dissertation database for future scholars and other organizations. I will share the findings of this study with others at business related forums, organizational training, and leadership conferences as I have the opportunity.

Recommendations for Further Research

The findings of this study provide a foundation for further research in the areas of employee turnover. The basis of this study included two limitations. The principle limitation of the study was the degree of respondent honesty regarding their experiences when answering interview questions was unknown. Additionally, restricting the sample population to a single geographic location limited the generalizability of the study. This study's participants were childcare center directors in Houston, Texas.

Recommendations for further research are to expand the research to include other geographic locations. By expanding research to other geographic locations, researchers may help leaders better understand effective strategies to reduce employee turnover.

Future research may also be extended to larger organizations. Larger organizations may encounter conditions and challenges not experienced in smaller organizations; therefore, examining larger firms may reveal additional insight on strategies for reducing employee turnover. Minimizing employee turnover is critical to the success of an organization;

therefore, future qualitative researchers should explore effective strategies by interviewing subordinates and understanding what strategies they perceive as effective. Additionally, quantitative researchers may examine the relationship between employee turnover and other variables such as profit margin, costs of onboarding, and training expenses.

Reflections

The Walden University Doctor of Business Administration (DBA) program has been a challenging yet rewarding experience. This journey tested my will and determination. The process pushed me to and beyond limits I did not know I had. My initial driving force for beginning this doctoral program was to be an example to my children; ultimately, the completion of this program allowed me to prove to myself that I can finish anything I set my mind to. I chose to research strategies to reduce employee turnover based on my future objective to own and operate a childcare center. Participants of this qualitative multiple case study provided knowledge and understanding of strategies to reduce employee turnover. I appreciated the participants' willingness to share their experiences. I gained valuable information on implementing strategies to reduce employee turnover.

Conclusion

An organization plagued by constant employee turnover will likely struggle to meet its corporate mission and vision objectives (Evans, Thomas, & MacDonnell, 2018). The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to determine strategies that

childcare center directors utilize to reduce employee turnover. Using the job embeddedness theory as a guide, I developed theoretical arguments that explored reasons employees remain in an organization. I uncovered strategies childcare center directors used to decrease employee turnover. As the childcare industry is a people-centric field of employment, findings from this study confirmed the need for mangers to implement policies and practices that balance the needs of the staff with the organization's priorities. The results of this study demonstrated the importance of a diversified approach to reducing employee turnover with the use effective managerial communication, a deliberately crafted organizational culture, rewards and recognition programs, and financial compensation. Employee turnover is inevitable, but leaders should seek to understand the causes of turnover in their respective organizations and implement measures to reduce the rate of employee turnover to protect the organization's longevity.

References

- Abbas, M., Raja, U., Darr, W., & Bouckenooghe, D. (2014). Combined effects of perceived politics and psychological capital on job satisfaction, turnover intentions, and performance. *Journal of Management*, 40, 1813-1830. doi:10.1177/0149206312455243
- Abell, E., Arsiwalla, D. D., Putnam, R. I., Miller, E.B. (2014). Mentoring and facilitating professional engagement as quality enhancement strategies: An overview and evaluation of the family child care partnerships program. *Child Youth Care Forum*, 43, 569-592. doi:10.1111/joms.12058
- Abdulsalam, Y., Gopalakrishnan, M., Maltz, A., & Schneller, E. (2015). Health care matters: Supply chains in and of the health sector. *Journal of Business Logistics*, 36, 335-339. doi:10.1111/jbl.12111
- Adkins, A. (2016). *Employee engagement in U.S. stagnant in 2015*. Retrieved from http://www.gallup.com/poll/188144/employee-engagement-stagnant-2015.aspx
- Afsar, B., & Badir, Y. F. (2016). Person–organization fit, perceived organizational support, and organizational citizenship behavior: The role of job embeddedness.

 Journal of Human Resources in Hospitality & Tourism, 15, 252-278.

 doi:10.1080/15332845.2016.1147936
- Aguinis, H., & Edwards, J. R. (2014). Methodological wishes for the next decade and how to make wishes come true. *Journal of Management Studies*, *51*, 143-174. doi:10.1111/joms.12058

- Agyeman, C. M., & Ponniah, V. M. (2014). Employee demographic characteristics and their effects on turnover and retention in MSMEs. *International Journal of Recent Advances in Organizational Behaviour and Decision Sciences (IJRAOB)*, 1(1), 12-29. Retrieved from www.globalresearch.org
- Akunda, D., Chen, Z., & Gikiri, S. N. (2018). Role of HRM in talent retention with evidence. *Journal of Management and Strategy*, 9(2), 8-19. doi:10.5430/jms.v9n2p8
- Albdour, A., & Huntie, M. (2015). The mediating effect of employee engagement between its antecedents and consequences. *Journal of Management Research*, 7, 48-62. doi:10.5296/jmr.v7i5.8048
- Allen, D. G., Peltokorpi, V., & Rubenstein, A. L. (2016). When "embedded" means "stuck": Moderating effects of job embeddedness in adverse work environments. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 101, 1670-1686. doi:10.1037/apl0000134
- Alkahtani, A. H. (2015). Investigating factors that influence employees' turnover intention: A review of existing empirical works. *International Journal of Business and Management*, 10, 152-166. doi:10.5539/ijbm.v10n12p152
- Al Mamun, C. A., & Hasan, M. N. (2017). Factors affecting employee turnover and sound retention strategies in business organization: A conceptual view. *Problems and Perspectives in Management*, 15(1), 63-71. doi:10.21511/ppm.15(1).2017.06

- Al Mehrzi, N. & Singh, S. K. (2016). Competing through employee engagement: a proposed framework, *International Journal of Productivity and Performance Management*, 65(6). 831-843. doi:10.1108/IJPPM-02-2016-0037
- Anand, G. (2017). Corporate excellence through governance and employee engagement:

 A brief analysis. *Journal of Commerce and Management Thought*, 8, 554-562.

 doi:10.5958/0976-478X.2017.00033.7
- Anney, V. N. (2014). Ensuring the quality of the findings of qualitative research:

 Looking at trustworthiness criteria. *Journal of Emerging Trends in Educational Research and Policy Studies (JETERAPS)*, 5, 272-281. Retrieved from http://jeteraps.scholarlinkresearch.com
- Anitha, J. (2014). Determinants of employee engagement and their impact on employee performance. *International Journal of Productivity and Performance*Management, 63, 308-323. doi:10.1108/IJPPM-01-2013-0008
- Antoni, C. H., Baeten, X., Perkins, S. J., Shaw, J. D., & Vartiainen, M. (2017). Reward management: Linking employee motivation and organizational performance.

 *Journal of Personnel Psychology, 16(2), 57-60. doi:10.1027/1866-5888/a000187
- Antwi, S. K., & Hamza, K. (2015). Qualitative and quantitative research paradigms in business research: A philosophical reflection. *European Journal of Business and Management*, 7, 215-225. Retrieved from http://www.iiste.org

- Anyan, F. (2013). The influence of power shifts in data collection and analysis stages: A focus on qualitative research interview. *Qualitative Report*, 18(36), 1-9. Retrieved from https://nsuworks.nova.edu
- Aral, S., & Walker, D. (2014). Tie strength, embeddedness, and social influence: A large-scale networked experiment. *Management Science*, 60, 1352-1370.
 doi:10.1287/mnsc.2014.1936
- Ashraf, A. A., Farooq, U., & Din, S. M. U. (2014). An investigation to the leadership culture fit and its impact on job satisfaction and work commitment. *World Applied Sciences Journal*, *31*, 427-438. doi:10.5829/idosi.wasj.2014.31.04.2055
- Baillie, L. (2015). Promoting and evaluating scientific rigour in qualitative research. *Nursing Standard*, 29(46), 36-42. doi:10.7748/ns.29.46.36.e8830
- Bankert, B., Coberley, C., Pope, J. E., & Wells, A. (2015). Regional economic activity and absenteeism: A new approach to estimating the indirect costs of employee productivity loss. *Population Health Management*, 18(1), 47-53. doi:10.1089/pop.2014.0025
- Barrick, M. R., Mount, M. K., & Li, N. (2013). The theory of purposeful work behavior:

 The role of personality, higher-order goals, and job characteristics. *The Academy of Management Review*, 38, 132-153. doi:10.5465/amr.2010.0479
- Baškarada, S. (2014). Qualitative case study guidelines. *The Qualitative Report*, 19(40), 1-18. Retrieved from http://nsuworks.nova.edu

- Baskerville, R. L., & Myers, M. D. (2015). Design ethnography in information systems. *Information Systems Journal*, 25, 23-46. doi:10.1111/isj.12055
- Belias, D., & Koustelios, A. (2014). Organizational culture and job satisfaction: A review. *International Review of Management and Marketing*, 4, 132-149.

 Retrieved from http://www.econjournals.com
- Berger, R. (2015). Now I see it, now I don't: Researcher's position and reflexivity in qualitative research. *Qualitative Research*, 15, 219-234. doi:10.1177/1468794112468475
- Bills, M. A. (1925). Social status of the clerical work and his permanence on the job. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 9, 424-427. doi:10.1037/h0065881
- Birt, L., Scott, S., Cavers, D., Campbell, C., & Walter, F. (2016). Member checking a tool to enhance trustworthiness or merely a nod to validation? *Qualitative Health Research*, 26, 1802-1811. doi:10.1177/1049732316654870
- Bowden, C., & Galindo-Gonzalez, S. (2015). Interviewing when you're not face-to-face:

 The use of email interviews in a phenomenological study. *International Journal of Doctoral Studies*, *10*(12), 79-92. Retrieved http://ijds.org
- Breen, R., Holm, A., & Karlson, K. B. (2014). Correlations and nonlinear probability models. *Sociological Methods & Research*, 43, 571-605. doi:10.1177/0049124114544224
- Brett, V., O'Neill, A., & O'Gorman, B. (2014). Observing entrepreneurs in networks:

 Reflecting on the relationship between the researcher and the participants.

- International Journal of Entrepreneurship and Small Business, 21, 275-287. doi:10.1504/ijesb.2014.060892
- Brewster, Z. W., & Brauer, J. R. (2016). Different service, same experience:

 Documenting the subtlety of modern racial discrimination in U.S. restaurants.

 Cornell Hospitality Quarterly, 58(2), 190-202. doi:10.1177/1938965516650032
- Butler, S. S., Brennan-Ing, M., Wardamasky, S., & Ashley, A. (2014). Determinants of longer job tenure among home care aides: What makes some stay on the job while others leave? *Journal of Applied Gerontology*, *33*, 164-188. doi:10.1177/073346481349595
- Castillo-Montoya, M. (2016). Preparing for interview research: The interview protocol refinement framework. *The Qualitative Report*, 21, 811-831. Retrieved from http://nsuworks.nova.edu
- Chambel, M. J., Lorente, L., Carvalho, V., & Martinez, I. M. (2016). Psychological contract profiles among permanent and temporary agency workers. *Journal of Managerial Psychology*, *31*, 79-94. doi:10.1108/JMP-02-2014-0070
- Chatman, J. A. (1989). Matching people and organizations: Selection and socialization in public accounting firms. *Academy of Management Proceedings*, *1*, 199-203. doi:10.5465/AMBPP.1989.4980837
- Cheng, C-Y., & Chang, J-N. (2016). Job embeddedness as a modulation. *Journal of Organizational Change Management*, 29, 484-507. doi:10.1108/JOCM-10-2014-0184

- Chen, P., Sparrow, P., & Cooper, C. (2016). The relationship between personorganization fit and job satisfaction, *Journal of Managerial Psychology*, 31, 946-959. doi:10.1108/JMP-08-2014-0236
- Cho, J. Y., & Lee, E. (2014). Reducing confusion about grounded theory and qualitative content analysis: Similarities and differences. *The Qualitative Report*, 19(32), 1-20. Retrieved from http://nsuworks.nova.edu
- Choi, J. S., & Kim, K. M. (2015). Job embeddedness factors as a predictor of turnover intention among infection control nurses in Korea. *American Journal of Infection Control*, 43, 1213-1217. doi:10.1016/j.ajic.2015.06.017
- Clarke, V., & Braun, V. (2014). Thematic analysis. *Encyclopedia of Critical Psychology*, 9, 1947-1952. doi:10.1007/978-1-4614-5583-7_311
- Cleary, M., Horsfall, J., & Hayter, M. (2014). Data collection and sampling in qualitative research: Does size matter? *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 70, 473-475. doi:10.1111/jan.12163
- Cope, D. G. (2014). Methods and meanings: Credibility and trustworthiness of qualitative research. *Oncology Nursing Forum*, 41, 89-91. doi:10.1188/14.ONF
- Crossley, C. D., Bennett, R. J., Jex, S. M., & Burnfield, J. L. (2007). Development of a global measure of job embeddedness and integration into a traditional model of voluntary turnover. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 92, 1031-1042. doi:10.1037/0021-9010.92.4.1031

- Dale-Olsen, H. (2014). Sickness absence, sick leave pay, and pay schemes. *Labour:**Review of Labour Economics & Industrial Relations, 28(1), 40-63.

 doi:10.1111/labr.12022
- David, R., Dube, A., & Ngulube, P. (2013). A cost-benefit analysis of document management strategies used at a financial institution in Zimbabwe: A case study. *South African Journal of Information Management*, *15*(2), 1-10. doi:10.4102/sajim.v15i2.540
- Deery, M., & Jago, L. (2015). Revisiting talent management, work-life balance and retention strategies. *International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality*Management, 27, 453-472. doi:10.1108/IJCHM-12-2013-0538
- De Vito, L., Brown, A., Bannister, B., Cianci, M., & Mujtaba, B. G. (2018). Employee motivation based on the hierarchy of needs, expectancy and the two-factor theories applied with higher education employees. *IJAMEE.3*(1), 20-32. Retrieved from http://ijamee.info
- Dhar, R. L. (2015). Service quality and the training of employees: The mediating role of organizational commitment. *Tourism Management*, 46, 419-430. doi:10.1016/j.tourman.2014.08.001
- Doody, O., & Noonan, M. (2013). Preparing and conducting interviews to collect data. *Nurse Researcher*, 20(5), 28-32. doi:10.7748/nr2013.05.20.5.28.e327

- Elo, S., Kääriäinen, M., Kanste, O., Pölkki, T., Utriainen, K., & Kyngäs, H. (2014).

 Qualitative content analysis: A focus on trustworthiness. *Sage Open*, 4(1), 1-10.

 doi:10.1177/2158244014522633
- Elmusharaf, K., Byrne, E., Manandhar, M., Hemmings, J., & O'Donovan, D. (2016).

 Participatory ethnographic evaluation and research reflections on the research approach used to understand the complexity of maternal health issues in South Sudan. *Qualitative Health Research*, 14, 1-14. doi:1049732316673975
- Ertas, N. (2015). Turnover intentions and work motivations of millennial employees in federal service. *Public Personnel Management*, 44, 401-423. doi:10.1177/0091026015588193
- Evans, C. A., Thomas, J., & MacDonnell, S. (2018). Interpersonal problems of the nonprofit workforce: Evaluating the wounded healer as the reason for high turnover. *Journal of Ideology*, 39(1), 1-22. Retrieved from cholarcommons.sc.edu
- Fatima, M. (2016). The impact of organizational culture types on the job satisfaction of employees. *Sukkur IBA Journal of Management and Business*, *3*(1), 13-32.

 Retrieved from http://www.iba-suk.edu.pk
- Ferreira, A. I. (2017). Leader and peer ethical behavior influences on job embeddedness. *Journal of Leadership & Organizational Studies*, 24, 345-356. doi:10.1177/1548051817702095
- Fishman, A. (2016). How generational differences will impact America's aging workforce: Strategies for dealing with aging Millennials, Generation X, and

- Baby Boomers. *Strategic HR Review*, *15*, 250-257. doi:10.1108/SHR-08-2016-0068
- Fletcher, J. (2014). Social communities in a knowledge enabling organizational context:

 Interaction and relational engagement in a community of practice and a microcommunity of knowledge. *Discourse & Communication*, 8, 351-369.

 doi:10.1177/1750481314537577
- Frels, R. K., & Onwuegbuzie, A. J. (2013). Administering quantitative instruments with qualitative interviews: A mixed research approach. *Journal of Counseling & Development*, 91, 184-194. doi:10.1002/j.1556-6676.2013.00085.x
- Fu, W., & Deshpande, S. P. (2014). The impact of caring climate, job satisfaction, and organizational commitment on job performance of employees in a China's insurance company. *Journal of Business Ethics*, *124*, 339-349. doi:10.1007/s10551-013-1876-y
- Fusch, P. I., & Ness, L. R. (2015). Are we there yet? Data saturation in qualitative research. *The Qualitative Report*, 20, 1408-1416. Retrieved from http://nsuworks.nova.edu
- Gallus, J., & Frey, B. S. (2016). Awards: A strategic management perspective. *Strategic Management Journal*, *37*, 1699-1714. doi:10.1002/smj.2415
- Garg, S., & Dhar, R. L. (2014). Effects of stress, LMX and perceived organizational support on service quality: Mediating effects of organizational

- commitment. *Journal of Hospitality and Tourism Management*, 21, 64-75. doi:10.1016/j.jhtm.2014.07.002
- George, C. (2015). Retaining professional workers: What makes them stay? *Employee Relations*, *37*, 102-121. doi:10.1177/239700221502900203
- Ghosh, D., & Gurunathan, L. (2015). Job embeddedness: A ten-year literature review and proposed guidelines. *Global Business Review*, *16*, 856-866. doi:10.1177/0972150915591652
- Gibson, S., Benson, O., & Brand, S. L. (2013). Talking about suicide: Confidentiality and anonymity in qualitative research. *Nursing Ethics*, 20(1), 18-29. doi:10.1177/0969733012452684
- Gill, M. J. (2014). The possibilities of phenomenology for organizational research.

 *Organizational Research Methods, 17(2), 118-137.

 doi:10.1177/1094428113518348
- Goldberg, A. E., & Allen, K. R. (2015). Communicating qualitative research: Some practical guideposts for scholars. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 77, 3-22. doi:10.1111/jomf.12153
- Halvorsen, B., Treuren, G. J., & Kulik, C. T. (2015). Job embeddedness among migrants:

 Fit and links without sacrifice. *International Journal of Human Resource*Management, 26, 1298-1317. doi:10.1080/09585192.2014.990399
- Hammond, R. W. (2017). And a miracle happens. *Muma Business Review*, 1(4), 39-45.

 Retrieved from: http://mumabusinessreview.org

- Hausknecht, J. (2014). Collective data on collective turnover: What factors most affect turnover rates? Retrieved from http://digitalcommons.ilr.cornell.edu
- Heritage, B., Gilbert, J. M., & Roberts, L. D. (2016). Job embeddedness demonstrates incremental validity when predicting turnover intentions for Australian university employees. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 7, 1-12. doi:10.3389/fpsyg.2016.00582
- Hernandez, B., Stanley, B., & Miller, L. (2014). Job embeddedness and job engagement:

 Recommendations for a supportive social work environment. *Human Service Organizations: Management, Leadership & Governance*, 38, 336-347.

 doi:10.1080/23303131.2013.878013
- Hesford, J. W., Malina, M. A., & Pizzini, M. (2016). Turnover and unit-level financial performance: an analysis of the costs and benefits of voluntary and involuntary turnover in unskilled jobs. *Advances in Management Accounting*, 26, 35-65. doi:1108/S1474-787120150000026002
- Heyvaert, M., Maes, B., & Onghena, P. (2013). Mixed methods research synthesis:

 Definition, framework, and potential. *Quality & Quantity*, 47, 659-676.

 doi:10.1007/s11135-011-9538-6
- Holtom, B. C., Mitchell, T. R., Lee, T. W., & Eberly, M. B. (2008). Turnover and retention research: A glance at the past, a closer review of the present, and a venture into the future. *The Academy of Management Annals*, 2, 231-274. doi:10.1080/19416520802211552

- Hom, P. W., Tsui, A. S., Wu, J. B., Lee, T. W., Zhang, A. Y., Fu, P., & Li, L. (2009).
 Explaining employment relationships with social exchange and job
 embeddedness. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 94, 277-297.
 doi:10.1037/a0013453
- Homburg, C., Wilczek, H., & Hahn, A. (2014). Looking beyond the horizon: How to approach the customers' customers in business-to-business markets. *American Marketing Association*, 78(5), 58-77. doi:10.1509/jm.12.0529
- Hoon, C. (2013). Meta-synthesis of qualitative case studies an approach to theory building. *Organizational Research Methods*, *16*, 522-556. doi:10.1177/1094428113484969
- Hyett, N., Kenny, A., & Dickinson-Swift, V. (2014). Methodology or method? A critical review of qualitative case study reports. *International Journal of Qualitative Studies on Health and Well-Being*, 9, 1-12. doi:10.3402/qhw.v9.23606
- Inabinet, C., & Ballaro, J. M. (2014). Developing an organization by predicting employee retention by matching corporate culture with employee's values: A correlation study. *Organization Development Journal*, 32(1), 55-74. Retrieved from http://www.ccsenet.org
- Ingham-Broomfield, R. (2014). A nurse's guide to quantitative research. *Australian Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 32(2), 32-38. Retrieved from http://www.anf.org.au/

- Javed, M., Balouch, R., & Hassan, F. (2014). Determinants of job satisfaction and its impact on employee performance and turnover intentions. *International Journal of Learning and Development*, 4(2), 120-140. doi:10.5296/ijld.v4i2.6094
- Jehanzeb, K., & Bashir, N. A. (2013). Training and development program and its benefits to employee and organization: A conceptual study. *Training and Development*, 5, 237-242. Retrieved from http://www.iiste.org
- Jørgensen, M., Dybå, T., Liestøl, K., & Sjøberg, D. I. (2016). Incorrect results in software engineering experiments: How to improve research practices. *Journal of Systems* & *Software*, *116*, 133-145. doi:10.1016/j.jss.2015.03.065
- Kabungaidze, T., Mahlatshana, N., & Ngirande, H. (2013). The impact of job satisfaction and some demographic variables on employee turnover intentions. *International Journal of Business Administration*, 4(1), 53-65. doi:10.5430/ijba.v4n1p53
- Khan, S. N. (2014). Qualitative research method: Grounded theory. *International Journal of Business and Management*, 9, 224-233. doi:10.5539/ijbm
- Kiazad, K., Holtom, B. C., Hom, P. W., & Newman, A. (2015). Job embeddedness: A multifoci theoretical extension. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 100, 641-659. doi:10.1037/a0038919
- Kim, J. & Timmerman, C. E. (2018). Effects of supportive feedback messages on exergame experiences: A mediating role of social presence. *Journal of Media Psychology: Theories, Methods, and Applications, 30*(1), 29-40. doi:10.1027/1864-1105/a000175

- Kim, S., & Yang, S. (2016). Childcare teachers' job satisfaction: Effects of personality, conflict-handling, and organizational characteristics. *Social Behavior and Personality: An International Journal*, 44(2), 177-184.
 doi:10.2224/sbp.2016.44.2.177
- Kim, J., Wehbi, N., DelliFraine, J. L., & Brannon, D. (2014). The joint relationship between organizational design factors and HR practice factors on direct care workers' job satisfaction and turnover intent. *Health Care Management Review*, 39(2), 174-184. doi:10.1097/hmr.0b013e31828c8b8f
- Kossivi, B., Xu, M. and Kalgora, B. (2016). Study on Determining Factors of Employee Retention. *Open Journal of Social Sciences*, *4*, 261-268. doi:10.4236/jss.2016.45029
- Lang, J., Kern, M., & Zapf, D. (2016). Retaining high achievers in times of demographic change. The effects of proactivity, career satisfaction and job embeddedness on voluntary turnover. *Psychology*, 7, 1545-1561. doi:10.4236/psych.2016.713150
- Lee, T. W., Burch, T. C., & Mitchell, T. R. (2014). The story of why we stay: A review of job embeddedness. *Annual Review of Organizational Psychology and Organizational Behavior*, 1, 199-216. doi:10.1146/annurev-orgpsych-031413-091244
- Lee, T. W., Hom, P. W., Eberly, M. B., Li, J. J., & Mitchell, T. R. (2017). On the next decade of research in voluntary employee turnover. *The Academy of Management Perspectives*, 31(3), 201-221. Retrieved from http://amp.aom.org

- Lee, T. W., Mitchell, T. R., Sablynski, C. J., Burton, J. P., & Holtom, B. C. (2004). The effects of job embeddedness on organizational citizenship, job performance, volitional absences, and voluntary turnover. *Academy of Management Journal*, 47, 711-722. doi:10.2307/20159613
- Lewin, K. (1951). Field theory in social science. New York, NY: Harper.
- Lewis, S. (2015). Qualitative inquiry and research design: Choosing among five approaches. *Health Promotion Practice*, *16*, 473-775. doi:10.1177/1524839915580941
- Lyons, S. T., Schweitzer, L., & Ng, E. S. (2015). How have careers changed? An investigation of changing career patterns across four generations. *Journal of Managerial Psychology*, 30(1), 8-21. doi:10.1108/JMP-07-2014-0210
- Lu, A. C. C., & Gursoy, D. (2016). Impact of job burnout on satisfaction and turnover intention: do generational differences matter? *Journal of Hospitality & Tourism Research*, 40(2), 210-235. doi:10.1177/1096348013495696
- Male, T. (2016). Analyzing qualitative data. Doing research in education: Theory and practice. London, United Kingdom: Sage.
- Malterud, K., Siersma, V. D., & Guassora, A. D. (2016). Sample size in qualitative interview studies: Guided by information power. *Qualitative Health Research*, 26, 1753-1760. doi:10.1177/1049732315617444

- Marasi, S., Cox, S. S., & Bennett, R. J. (2016). Job embeddedness: Is it always a good thing? *Journal of Managerial Psychology*, 31, 141-153. doi:10.1108/JMP-05-2013-0150
- March, J. G., & Simon, H. A. (1958). Organizations. New York, NY: Wiley.
- Marshall, C., & Rossman, G. B. (2016). *Designing qualitative research* (6th ed.).

 Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Maxwell, J. A. (2015). Expanding the history and range of mixed methods research. *Journal of Mixed Methods Research*, 10(1), 1-16.

 doi:10.1177/1558689815571132
- Mayoh, J., & Onwuegbuzie, A. J. (2015). Toward a conceptualization of mixed methods phenomenological research. *Journal of Mixed Methods Research*, 9, 91-107. doi:10.1177/1558689813505358
- McCleskey, J. A. (2014). Situational, transformational, and transactional leadership and leadership development. *Journal of Business Studies Quarterly*, 5, 117-130. Retrieved from http://jbsq.org/
- McIntosh, M. J., & Morse, M. (2015). Situating and constructing diversity in semistructured interviews. *Global Qualitative Nursing Research*, 2, 1-12. doi:10.1177/2333393615597674
- Mencl, J., & Lester, S. W. (2014). More alike than different: What generations value and how the values affect employee workplace perceptions. *Journal of Leadership & Organizational Studies*, 21, 257-272. doi:10.1177/154805181452982

- Memon, M. A., Salleh, R., Baharom, M. N. R., & Harun, H. (2014). Person-organization fit and turnover intention: The mediating role of employee engagement. *Global Business and Management Research*, 6, 205-209. doi:10.1097/jnr.00000000000000019
- Mitchell, T. R., Holtom, B. C., Lee, T. W., Sablynski, C. J., & Erez, M. (2001). Why people stay: Using job embeddedness to predict voluntary turnover. *Academy of Management Journal*, 44, 1102-1121. doi:10.2307/3069391
- Mobley, W. H., Horner, S. O., & Hollingsworth, A. T. (1978). An evaluation of precursors of hospital employee turnover. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, *63*, 408-414. doi:10.1037/0021-9010.63.4.408
- Morse, J. M. (2015). "Data were saturated . . ." Qualitative Health Research, 25, 587-588. doi:10.1177/1049732315576699
- Morse, W. C., Lowery, D. R., & Steury, T. (2014). Exploring saturation of themes and spatial locations in qualitative public participation geographic information systems research. *Society & Natural Resources*, 27, 557-571. doi:10.1080/08941920.2014.888791
- Moustakas, C. E. (1994). *Phenomenological research methods*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Munn, Z., Porritt, K., Lockwood, C., Aromataris, E., & Pearson, A. (2014). Establishing confidence in the output of qualitative research synthesis: The ConQual

- approach. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, *14*, 108-114. doi:10.1186/1471-2288-14-108
- Murshed, S. T. H., Uddin, S., & Hossain, L. (2015). Transitivity, hierarchy and reciprocity of organizational communication network during crisis. *International Journal of Organizational Analysis*, 23(1), 2-20. doi:10.1108/IJOA-04-2012-0584
- Myers, M. D., & Venable, J. R. (2014). A set of ethical principles for design science research in information systems. *Information & Management*, 51, 801-809. doi:10.1016/j.im.2014.01.002
- Nafei, W. (2014). The effects of job embeddedness on organizational cynicism and employee performance: A study on Sadat City University. *International Journal of Business Administration*, 6(1), 8-24. doi:10.5539/jms.v4n1p204
- National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects of Biomedical and

 Behavioral Research. (1979). The Belmont report: Ethical principles and
 guidelines for the protection of human subjects of research. Federal Register.

 Retrieved from http://www.hhs.gov/ohrp/humansubjects/guidance/belmont.html
- O'Brien, B. C., Harris, I. B., Beckman, T. J., Reed, D. A., & Cook, D. A. (2014).

 Standards for reporting qualitative research: A synthesis of recommendations.

 Academic Medicine, 89, 1245-1251. doi:10.1097/ACM.0000000000000388
- Oltmann, S. (2016). Qualitative interviews: A methodological discussion of the interviewer and respondent contexts. *Forum Qualitative Sozialforschung/Forum:*

- Qualitative Social Research, 17, 1-16. Retrieved from http://www.qualitativeresearch.net
- Oun, M. A., & Bach, C. (2014). Qualitative research method summary. *Journal of Multidisciplinary Engineering Science and Technology (JMEST)*, 1, 252-258.

 Retrieved from http://www.jmest.org
- Ozcelik, G. (2015). Engagement and retention of the millennial generation in the workplace through internal branding. *International Journal of Business and Management*, 10(3), 99-107. doi:doi.org/10.5539/ijbm.v10n3p99
- Ozolina-Ozolaa, I. (2014). The impact of human resource management practices on employee turnover. *Procedia Social and Behavioral Sciences*, *156*, 223-226. doi:10.1016/j.sbspro.2014.11.178
- Pacho, O. T. (2015). Exploring participants' experiences using case study. *International Journal of Humanities and Social Science*, 5(4), 44-53. Retrieved from http://www.ijhssnet.com
- Palinkas, L. A., Horwitz, S. M., Green, C. A., Wisdom, J. P., Duan, N., & Hoagwood, K. (2015). Purposeful sampling for qualitative data collection and analysis in mixed method implementation research. *Administration and Policy in Mental Health and Mental Health Services Research*, 42, 533-544. doi:10.1007/s10488-013-0528-y
- Park, T. Y., & Shaw, J. D. (2013). Turnover rates and organizational performance: A meta-analysis. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 98(2), 268-309. doi:10.1037/a0030723

- Parker, A., & Gerbasi, A. (2016). The impact of energizing interactions on voluntary and involuntary turnover. *Management*, 19(3), 177-202. doi:10.3917/mana.193.0177
- Patil, Y. V., & Sharma, D. S. (2014). An analytical study of role of compensation and exit interview on employee retention in plastic manufacturing industry in Jalgaon district. *International Journal of Human Resource Management*, 1(8), 6-10.

 Retrieved from http://www.tandfonline.com
- Peachey, J. W., Burton, L., J., & Wells, J. E. (2014). Examining the influence of transformational leadership, organizational commitment, job embeddedness, and job search behaviors on turnover intentions in intercollegiate athletics. *Leadership & Organization Development Journal*, 35, 740-755. doi:10.1108/LODJ-10-2012-0128
- Pietkiewicz, I., & Smith, J. A. (2014). A practical guide to using interpretative phenomenological analysis in qualitative research psychology. *Psychological Journal*, 20(1), 7-14. doi:10.14691/CPPJ.20.1.7
- Porter, C. M., Woo, S. E., & Campion, M. A. (2016). Internal and external networking differentially predict turnover through job embeddedness and job offers. *Personnel Psychology*, 69, 635-672. doi:10.1111/peps.12121
- Qazi, T. F., Khalid, A., & Shafique, M. (2015). Contemplating employee retention through multidimensional assessment of turnover intentions. *Pakistan Journal of Commerce and Social Sciences*, 9, 598-613. Retrieved from www.jespk.net

- QSR International Pty Ltd. (2017). NVIVO: The #1 software for qualitative data analysis.

 Retrieved from www.qsrinternational.com
- Rafiee, N., Bahrami, M. A., & Entezarian, S. (2015). Demographic determinants of organizational commitment of health managers in Yazd Province. *International Journal of Management, Accounting & Economics*, 2, 91-100. Retrieved from http://www.ijmae.com
- Rajappan, S., Nair, R. S., Priyadarshini, M., K., & Sivakumar, V. (2017). Exploring the effect of workplace spirituality on job embeddedness among higher secondary school teachers in Ernakulam district. *Cogent Business & Management*, 4, 1-9. doi:10.1080/23311975.2017.1334419
- Ramesh, A., & Gelfand, M. J. (2010). Will they stay or will they go? The role of job embeddedness in predicting turnover in individualistic and collectivistic cultures.

 *Journal of Applied Psychology, 95, 807-823. doi:10.1037/a0019464
- Ramdhani, A., Ramdhani, M. A., & Amin, A. S. (2014). Writing a literature review research paper: A step-by-step approach. *International Journal of Basic and Applied Science*, 39(10), 47-56. Retrieved from http://www.ijens.org
- Reitz, O. E. (2014). The job embeddedness instrument: An evaluation of validity and reliability. *Geriatric Nursing*, *35*, 351-356. doi:10.1016/j.gerinurse.2014.04.011
- Ritchie, J., Lewis, J., Nicholls, C. M., & Ormston, R. (Eds.). (2013). *Qualitative research*practice: A guide for social science students and researchers. London, United

 Kingdom: Sage Publications.

- Roberts, H. (2014). *UK near bottom of employee engagement ranking*. Retrieved from http://www.hrmagazine.co.uk
- Robinson, O. C. (2014). Sampling in interview-based qualitative research: A theoretical and practical guide. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, 11(1), 25-41. doi:10.1080/14780887.2013.801543
- Robinson, R. N., Kralj, A., Solnet, D. J., Goh, E., & Callan, V. (2014). Thinking job embeddedness not turnover: Towards a better understanding of frontline hotel worker retention. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, *36*, 101-109. doi:10.1016/j.ijhm.2013.08.008
- Rubenstein, A. L., Eberly, M.B., Lee, T.W. & Mitchell, T.R. (2017). Surveying the forest: A meta-analysis, moderator investigation, and the future-oriented discussion of the antecedents of voluntary employee turnover. *Personnel Psychology*, 71(1). 23-65. doi:10.1111/peps.1226
- Ryan, S., & Harden, G. (2014). Job embeddedness of information technology professionals: The effects of gender. *Journal of Computer Information*Systems, 54(4), 52-59. doi:10.1080/08874417.2014.11645722
- Saraç, M., Efil, I., & Eryilmaz, M. (2014). A study of the relationship between personorganization fit and employee creativity. *Management Research Review*, *37*, 479-501. doi:10.1108/MRR-01-2013-0025

- Saratun, M. (2016). Performance management to enhance employee engagement for corporate sustainability. *Asia-Pacific Journal of Business Administration*, 8, 84-102. doi:10.1108/APJBA-07-2015-0064
- Schubert, T., & Anderson, M. (2015). Old is gold? The effects of employee age on innovation and the moderating effects of employment turnover. *Economics of Innovation and New Technology*, 24, 95-113. doi:10.1080/10438599.2014.897858
- Schrems, B. M. (2014). Informed consent, vulnerability, and the risks of group-specific attribution. *Nursing Ethics*, *21*, 829-843. doi:10.1177/0969733013518448
- Scott, S. T., Sewell, S., & Odom, R. Y. (2015). A culture of employee engagement: a strategic perspective for global managers, *Journal of Business Strategy*, *36*(3), 46-56. doi:10.1108/JBS-06-2014-0062
- Shetty, S., & Reid, N. (2013). Global challenges and local responses: Creating a new urban world in the shrinking cities of the US industrial Midwest. *Regional Science Policy & Practice*, 5, 201-217. doi:10.1111/rsp3.12004
- Shuck, B., Twyford, D., Reio, T. G., & Shuck, A. (2014). Human resource development practices and employee engagement: Examining the connection with employee turnover intentions. *Human Resource Development Quarterly*, 25, 239-270. doi:10.1002/hrdq.21190
- Siedlecki, S. L., Butler, R. S., & Burchill, C. N. (2015). Survey design research: a tool for answering nursing research questions. *Clinical Nurse Specialist*, 29(4), E1-E8. doi:10.1097/NUR.0000000000000134

- Smith, J. A. (Ed.). (2015). *Qualitative psychology: A practical guide to research methods*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Soder, Paula F. (2016). Workplace spirituality and employee work intentions: examining the relationship and the mediating role of ethical leadership (Doctoral dissertation) *Electronic Theses and Dissertations*. Paper 2569. doi:10.18297/etd/2569
- Syahreza, D. S., Lumbanraja, P., Dalimunthe, R. F., & Absah, Y. (2017). Compensation, employee performance, and mediating role of retention: A study of differential semantic scales. *European Research Studies*, 20(4A), 151-159. Retrieved from http://www.ersj.eu
- Tanius, E., Pheng, L. S., Kasim, C. M. M., & Yulia, A. (2017). The relationship between communication satisfaction and procedural justice with employee retention. *AGE*, 29, 421-424. doi:10.1016/j.jbusres.2016.08.017
- Takawira, N., Coetzee, M., & Schreuder, D. (2014). Job embeddedness, work engagement and turnover intention of staff in a higher education institution: An exploratory study. *SA Journal of Human Resource Management*, *12*, 1-10. doi:10.4102/sajhrm.v12i1.524
- Terera, S. R. & Ngirande, H. (2017). The impact of rewards on job satisfaction and employee retention. *Mediterranean Journal of Social Sciences*, *5*, 481-487. doi:10.5901/mjss.2014.v5n1p481

- Tews, M. J., Michel, J., Xu, S., & Drost, A. J. (2015). Workplace fun matters ... but what else? *Employee Relations*, *37*, 248-267. doi:10.1108/ER-10-2013-0152
- Texas Department of Family and Protective Services. (2016). *Childcare minimum standards*. Retrieved from www.dfps.state.tx.us
- Thomas, M., Kohli, V., & Choi, J. (2014). Correlates of job burnout among human services workers: Implications for workforce retention. *The Journal of Sociology* & *Social Welfare*, 41(4). Retrieved from scholarworks.wmich.edu
- Tian, A. W., Cordery, J., & Gamble, J. (2016). Staying and performing: How human resource management practices increase job embeddedness and performance. *Personnel Review*, 45, 947-968. doi:10.1108/PR-09-2014-0194
- Timms, C., Brough, P., O'Driscoll, M., Kalliath, T., Siu, O. L., Sit, C., & Lo, D. (2015). Flexible work arrangements, work engagement, turnover intentions and psychological health. Asia Pacific Journal of Human Resources, 53(1), 83-103. doi:10.1111/1744-7941.12030
- Turner, S., Cardinal, L., & Burton, R. (2015). Research design for mixed methods: A triangulation-based framework and roadmap. *Organizational Research Methods*, 20(2), 1-25. doi:10.1177/1094428115610808
- Ugoami, J. (2016). Employee turnover and productivity among small business entities in Nigeria. *Independent Journal of Management and Production*, 7, 1063-1082. doi:10.14807/ijmp.v7i4.466

- U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. (2016). Worker turnover. Retrieved from https://www.childwelfare.gov
- Vaismoradi, M., Jones, J., Turunen, H., & Snelgrove, S. (2016). Theme development in qualitative content analysis and thematic analysis. *Journal of Nursing Education* and *Practice*, 6, 100-110. 10.5430/jnep.v6n5p100
- Venkatesh, V., Brown, S. A., & Bala, H. (2013). Bridging the qualitative-quantitative divide: Guidelines for conducting mixed methods research in information systems. *MIS Quarterly*, *37*(1), 21-54. Retrieved from http://aisel.aisnet.org
- Vesa, M., & Vaara, E. (2014). Strategic ethnography 2.0: Four methods for advancing strategy process and practice research. *Strategic Organization*, 12, 288-298. doi:10.1177/1476127014554745
- Vohra, V. (2014). Using the multiple case study design to decipher contextual leadership behaviors in Indian organizations. *Electronic Journal of Business Research*Methods, 12, 54-65. Retrieved from http://www.ejbrm.com
- Voinea, D. V., Busu, O. V., Opran, E. R., & Vladutescu, S. (2015). Embarrassments in managerial communication. *Polish Journal of Management Studies*, 11(2), 171-180. Retrieved from http://www.pjms.zim.pcz.pl/home.html
- Wang, C. C., & Geale, S. K. (2015). The power of story: Narrative inquiry as a methodology in nursing research. *International Journal of Nursing Sciences*, 2, 195-198. doi:10.1016/j.ijnss.2015.04.014

- Wang, T., Zhao, B., & Thornhill, S. (2015). Pay dispersion and organizational innovation: The mediation effects of employee participation and voluntary turnover. *Human Relations*, 68, 1155-1181. doi:10.1177/0018726715575359
- Ward, K., Gott, M., & Hoare, K. (2015). Participants' views of telephone interviews within a grounded theory study. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 71, 2775-2785. doi:10.1111/jan.12748
- Wei, Y-C. (2015). Do employees high in general human capital tend to have higher turnover intention? The moderating role of high-performance HR practices and P-O fit. *Personnel Review*, 44, 739-756. doi:10.1108/PR-07-2013-0137
- Wen, H. (2014). The nature, characteristics and ten strategies of learning organization.

 International Journal of Educational Management, 28, 289-298.

 doi:10.1108/IJEM-04-2013-0062
- Wojrtczuk-Turek, A., & Turek, D. (2016). The significance of perceived social-organization climate for creating employees' innovativeness: The mediating role of person-organization fit, *Management Research Review*, 39(2), 167-195. doi:10.1108/MRR-11-2015-0268
- Wolgemuth, J. R., Hicks, T., & Agosto, V. (2017). Unpacking assumptions in research synthesis: a critical construct synthesis approach. *Educational Researcher*, 46, 131-139. doi:10.3102/0013189X17703946

- Wright, B., & Ogbuehi, A. O. (2014). Surveying adolescents: The impact of data collection methodology on response quality. *Electronic Journal of Business Research Methods*, 12, 41-53. Retrieved from http://www.ejbrm
- Yilmaz, K. (2013). Comparison of quantitative and qualitative research traditions:

 Epistemological, theoretical, and methodological differences. *European Journal of Education*, 48, 311-325. doi:10.1111/ejed.12014
- Yin, R. K. (2017). *Case study research: Design and methods* (5th ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Yu, H., Abdullah, A., & Saat, R. M. (2014). Overcoming time and ethical constraints in the qualitative data collection process: A case of information literacy research.
 Journal of Librarianship and Information Science, 46(3), 243-257.
 doi:10.1177/0961000614526610
- Zhang, T., Avery, G. C., Bergsteiner, H., & More, E. (2014). The relationship between leadership paradigms and employee engagement. *Journal of Global Responsibility*, 5(1), 4-21. doi:10.1108/JGR-02-2014-0006

Appendix A: Participant Invitation Email

[MONTH, DATE, 2019]

[NAME]

[COMPANY NAME]

[ADDRESS] Tel: [xxx-xxx-xxxx]

[CITY, STATE, ZIP]

E-mail: [EMAIL-ADDRESS]

Re: Invitation to Participate in a Research Study

Dear [Recipient]:

My name is Tara Jones, and I am a doctoral student at Walden University conducting my doctoral study on strategies to reduce employee turnover in childcare centers. The title of

my study is "Strategies to Reduce Employee Turnover in Childcare Centers." I would

like to interview childcare center directors who meet the following criteria:

In a director position at a childcare center for at least 5 years

Employed at a childcare center that is nonfranchised and not in-home

Supervising a minimum of three employees

Has used strategies to reduce employee turnover.

Semistructured interviews with childcare center directors may provide helpful insight and

understanding for the research study. Upon completion of the study, I will share my

research findings with study participants and scholars. Individuals who meet the

participant criteria and would like to express interest in the study may contact me by

phone.

Sincerely,

Tara J. Jones Walden University Doctorate (DBA) Candidate

Appendix B: Interview Protocol

The objective of this interview is to explore strategies to employee turnover on childcare centers. The participants in the interview process will consist of childcare center directors in Houston, Texas. I will ask each participant the same set of questions based on the following interview protocol.

1. I will introduce myself to participants as a doctoral student of Walden University and give a brief overview of the purpose and time required for the interview based on the following script. Introduction script "Hello and thank you for agreeing to participate in this interview process. My name is Tara Jones, and I am a doctoral student at Walden University conducting my doctoral study on strategies to reduce employee turnover in childcare centers. The conclusion of the doctoral study is in partial fulfillment of the requirements to complete the Doctor of Business Administration (with a specialization in Human Resource Management) degree. Before I begin the interview process, I would like first to take this opportunity seek your permission to digitally record this interview, which will allow for the creation of a transcript of our conversation. All responses will be kept confidential, and you will have the opportunity to ask for me to repeat any question or seek further clarification of the questions. I will use your responses to develop a better understanding of your views and experiences on strategies that could help reduce employee turnover. As the responsible investigator, I would also like to remind you of your written consent to participate in this study. For your information purposes, I will keep the original version of the consent form and any other hardcopy paperwork related to the study in a locked desk drawer, for 5 years, after which time I will destroy by placing in a paper shredder and I will wipe, crush, and burn the password protected flash drive. Your participation in this interview process is voluntary and at any time during the interview process should you wish for me to stop recording or take a break please feel free to notify me immediately. Furthermore, you may withdraw your participation at any time without consequence. At the conclusion of the interview, I will schedule an appointment for member checking purposes based on your availability. Do you have any questions or concerns at this time? If there are no other questions, and with your permission, we will begin the interview."

- 2. After introductions, I will begin the interview process and speak into the recorder first announcing the date and time to denote the beginning of the participants' interview sessions.
- 3. I will begin the interview session by asking each question in a sequential order based on the research instrument and recording the participant's answers. The anticipated time of completion for each interview session is no more than one hour. To conclude the interview session, I will extend my appreciation and gratitude to the participant for taking the time to assist in the doctoral study. Each participant will receive information regarding the possibility of a follow-up interview to clarify his or her responses further. Finally, the participant will also

receive information about the member checking process. Following the concluding remarks, I will stop the audio recording and end the appointment.

Appendix C: Interview Questions

The interview questions are:

- 1. What strategies have you used to reduce employee turnover?
- 2. What strategies have you found worked best to reduce employee turnover?
- 3. What challenges have you encountered when implementing strategies to reduce employee turnover?
- 4. How have you addressed the key challenges to implementing the strategies for reducing employee turnover?
- 5. How do you measure the effectiveness of the strategies used to reduce employee turnover?
- 6. What other information would you like to add regarding this topic?

Appendix D: Member-Checking (E-mail Option)

[MONTH, DATE, 2019]

[NAME]

[COMPANY NAME]

[ADDRESS] Tel: [xxx-xxx-xxxx]

[CITY, STATE, ZIP]

E-mail: [EMAIL-ADDRESS]

Re: Member Checking

Dear [PARTICIPANT NAME],

I am contacting you for your review and evaluation of the summary of the initial

interpretations of findings from the data collected, including your contributions. An

evaluation form is attached for you to record your comments regarding these initial

interpretations. I will review your comments to help with the completion of my study, so

your constructive and candid comments are appreciated. Your thoroughness and detail

will both assist me in improving and revising my analysis and ultimately lead to a

publication of the highest quality. I would kindly request you please return your

completed member checking form to me by no later than (insert date). Please let me

know if you will be able to review these final interpretations of the data at this time.

Please contact me if you have any questions. I look forward to hearing from you soon.

Respectfully,

Tara Jones

Walden University Doctorate (DBA) Candidate